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BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 8, 2019 

METCALF BUILDING, ROOM 111 
1520 EAST 6th AVENUE, HELENA, MONTANA 

NOTE: Interested persons, members of the public, and the media are welcome to attend at the location stated 
above. The Board will make reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities who wish to participate in 
this meeting. Please contact the Board Secretary by telephone or by e-mail at Lindsay.Ford@mt.gov no later than 

24 hours prior to the meeting to advise her of the nature of the accommodation needed.  
 

9:00 AM 

I. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 

A. REVIEW AND APPROVE MINUTES 

1. The Board will vote on adopting the December 7, 2018 meeting minutes.  

Public Comment. 

II. BRIEFING ITEMS 

A. CONTESTED CASE UPDATE 

1. Enforcement cases assigned to the Hearing Examiner 

a. In the matter of the Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing by CMG 
Construction, Inc. Regarding Notice of Violations and Administrative 
Compliance and Penalty Order, Docket No. OC-17-12, BER 2017-08 OC. 
This matter has been stayed at the request of the parties since July 23, 2018. In 
December 2018, Ms. Clerget held a scheduling conference to place this matter 
back on a litigation schedule. Ms. Clerget issued an Amended Scheduling Order 
on January 8, 2019 and the parties are proceeding accordingly. 
 

b. In the Matter of Appeal Revocation of Cosa, Fischer Land Development 
Subdivision [ES# 42-78-S3-173] and Fischer Homes [ES# 42-80-T1-15], 
Roger Emery, Sidney, Richland County, Montana. [FID# 2214], BER 2018-
03 SUB. This matter has been stayed since July 24, 2018. The parties have 
stated in their Status Reports that they have come to an agreement in principle 
and are working toward finalizing the terms of their agreement.  A status 
conference is set for February 11, 2019.  

 
c. In the matter of violations of the Opencut Mining Act by Wagoner Family 

Partnership, d/b/a Wagoner’s Sand and Gravel, at River Gravel Pit, 
Flathead County, Montana (Opencut No. 1798; FID 2512), BER 2017-02 OC. 
On December 20, 2018, the parties filed a Stipulation of Dismissal requesting 
that this matter be dismissed pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) of the Montana 
Rules of Civil Procedure. This matter was dismissed with prejudice. 
 

d. In the Matter of Violation of the Metal Mine Reclamation Act by Little Bear 
Construction, Inc. at Bob Weaver Pit, Granite County, Montana. (SMED NO. 
46-117C; FID # 2567), BER 2018-02 MM. This matter has been proceeding 
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pursuant to a scheduling order issued May 31, 2018. The parties participated 
in a scheduling conference on January 22, 2019, at which they indicated the 
matter is in the final stages of settlement. The parties will submit either a 
notice of stipulation or status report by February 7, 2019. 

2.  Non-enforcement cases assigned to the Hearings Examiner 

a. In the matter of Westmoreland Resources, Inc.’s, appeal of final MPDES 
permit No. MT0021229 issued by DEQ for the Absaloka Mine in Hardin, 
Big Horn County, MT, BER 2015-06 WQ. This matter has been stayed since 
March 28, 2018, pending the Montana Supreme Court decision in MEIC and 
Sierra Club v. DEQ and Western Energy. The parties will file a status report 
within 30 days of the Supreme Court’s decision, which has not yet occurred. 
 

b. An appeal in the matter of amendment application AM3, Signal Peak 
Energy LLC’s Bull Mountain Coal Mine #1 Permit No. C1993017, BER 
2016-07 SM. On December 14, 2018 MEIC filed a Motion requesting an 
extension of time in which to file a motion for summary judgment. Hearing 
examiner Clerget issued an Order granting that motion the same day. The 
parties were given until February 1, 2019 in which to file a motion for 
summary judgment.  

 
c. In the matter of Appeal Amendment AM4, Western Energy Company 

Rosebud Strip Mine Area B, Permit No. C1984003B, BER 2016-03 SM. 
Ms. Clerget conducted a four-day hearing in this matter that concluded on 
March 22, 2018. After several extensions, the parties submitted their post-
hearing filings on September 27, 2018. On October 23, 2018, Western 
Energy filed a notice of bankruptcy. On November 16, 2018, the parties held 
a status conference and agreed that the bankruptcy filing does not stay this 
proceeding. Ms. Clerget is reviewing the filings and will issue a Proposed 
Order. This matter will be before the Board at its April 2019 meeting.  
 

d. In the matter of the notice of appeal and request for hearing by Montanore 
Minerals Corporation Regarding Issuance of MPDES Permit No. 
MT0030279, Libby, Montana, BER2017-03 WQ. A two-day hearing on this 
matter was held on December 3-4, 2018. Ms. Clerget issued a Scheduling 
Order setting the deadlines for post-hearing submissions on January 9, 2019. 
The parties are currently working on their proposed FOFCOLs and 
responses, and oral argument on those proposed FOFCOLs is set for March 
22, 2019.  

 
e. In the matter of the notice of appeal of final MPDES Permit No. 

MT0000264 issued by DEQ for the Laurel Refinery in Laurel, 
Yellowstone County, Montana, BER 2015-07 WQ. This matter has been 
stayed since March 14, 2018. This appeal began with six distinct issues and 
only one remains. The remaining issue is tied to a rule regarding permit 
modifications that DEQ currently has out for public comment, and there is a 
pending permit modification that may affect the continuation of this case. 
Also, the parties have indicated settlement is possible. On September 13, 
2018, Ms. Clerget granted a six month stay until February 25, 2019. 
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f. In the Matter of Notice of Appeal of Opencut Mining Permit #2351 Issued 
to Golden West Properties, LLC by Frank and Paulette Wagner 
Regarding Concerns and Unanswered Questions. BER 2018-04 OC, and 
In the Matter of Notice of Appeal of Opencut Mining Permit #2351 Issued 
to Golden West Properties, LLC by David Weyer on behalf of the 
Residents of Walden Meadows Subdivision. BER 2018-05 OC. Ms. 
Clerget issued the Scheduling Order on September 20, 2018. On January 3, 
2019, counsel for Golden West Properties filed an unopposed motion to 
modify the scheduling order. The motion was granted on January 8, 2019, 
and the parties are proceeding according to that schedule. 

 
g. In the matter of Columbia Falls Aluminum Company’s (CFAC) appeal of 

DEQ’s modification of Montana Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Permit No. MT0030066, Columbia Falls, Flathead County, Montana, BER 
2014-06 WQ. The parties appeared before the Board at its October 2018 
meeting for oral argument on the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of law.  At the meeting, the parties reached a settlement and the Board 
stayed the case until February 2019. 
 

3. Contested Cases not assigned to a Hearing Examiner 

a.  In the matter of the notice of appeal and request for hearing by Western 
Energy Company (WECO) regarding its MPDES Permit No. MT0023965 
issued for WECO’s Rosebud Mine in Colstrip, BER 2012-12 WQ. On April 
9, 2014, the hearings examiner issued Order Granting the Joint Unopposed 
Motion for Partial Remand of Permit to Department of Environmental Quality 
and for Suspension of Proceedings. This matter was stayed while action 
proceeded. On March 14, 2016, the Judge issued Order on Summary 
Judgment invalidating the permit renewal and modification and remanding the 
matter for consideration consistent with the opinion. On January 25, 2018, the 
Department of Environmental Quality entered a Stipulated Judgement 
resolving the issue of attorney’s fees. The Department of Environmental 
Quality and Western Energy have appealed the District Court’s Order on 
Summary Judgment to the Montana Supreme Court and the matter is now 
fully briefed. The Parties are awaiting request for oral argument and/or final 
Order of the Montana Supreme Court. 

III. ACTION ITEMS 

A. APPEAL, AMEND, OR ADOPT FINAL RULES 

1. The department requests that the board extend the comment period by 45 
days for proposed amendments to Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 
pertaining to ground water standards incorporated by reference into 
Department Circular DEQ-7. The board initiated rulemaking for the affected 
board rules at its December 7, 2018 regular meeting. 
 
Public Comment. 
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B. NEW CONTESTED CASE 
 
1. In the Matter of: Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing by CHS, Inc. 

Regarding Issuance of MPDES Permit No. MT0000264, BER 2019-01 WQ. On 
January 3, 2019, the Board received a request for hearing. The Board can decide 
to assign a hearings examiner for procedural issues in this case, hear the case 

itself, or assign a hearing examiner for the totality of the case. 
 

Public Comment. 
 

C. ACTION ON CONTESTED CASES 
 

1. In the matter of violations of the Water Quality Act by Reflections at Copper 
Ridge, LLC, at Reflections at Copper Ridge Subdivision, Billings, Yellowstone 
County (MTR105376), BER 2015-01 WQ and In the matter of violations of the 
Water Quality Act by Copper Ridge Development Corporation at Copper Ridge 
Subdivision, Billings, Yellowstone County (MTR105377), BER 2015-02 WQ. On 
July 16, 2018, Ms. Clerget issued her Proposed Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law 
and a separate order on exceptions. Copper Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge 
submitted their exceptions to the Proposed Order on September 17, 2018. DEQ filed 
its response on October 31, 2018. This matter was fully briefed and before the Board 
for oral argument at the December meeting, but the Board lacked a quorum. The 
Board requested additional briefing from the parties on the owner/operator issue, 
which the parties have submitted. The Board will hear additional oral argument and 
then this matter is ripe for decision by the Board. 
 

IV. BOARD COUNSEL UPDATE 

 Counsel for the Board will report on general Board business, procedural matters, and 
questions from Board Members. 

V. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT 

Under this item, members of the public may comment on any public matter within the 
jurisdiction of the Board that is not otherwise on the agenda of the meeting. Individual 
contested case proceedings are not public matters on which the public may comment. 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 
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BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

MINUTES 

December 7, 2018 
 
 

Call to Order 

The Board of Environmental Review’s meeting was called to order by Chairperson Deveny 
at 9:00 a.m., on Friday, December 7, 2018, in Room 111 of the Metcalf Building, 1520 
East 6th Avenue, Helena, Montana. 

Attendance 

Board Members Present in person: Chairperson Christine Deveny, John DeArment,  

Board Members Present by Phone: Chris Tweeten, Dexter Busby, Tim Warner 

Board Members Absent: John Felton, Hillary Hanson 

Board Attorney Present: Sarah Clerget, Attorney General’s Office (AGO) 

Board Liaison Present: George Mathieus 

Board Secretary Present: Lindsay Ford 

Court Reporter Present: Laurie Crutcher, Crutcher Court Reporting 

Department Personnel Present: Sandy Scherer, Ed Hayes, Mark Lucas, Kirsten Bowers, 
Aaron Pettis, Sarah Christopherson, Kurt Moser, Nick Whitaker, Norm Mullen – LEGAL;  
Dan Freeland, Mindy McCarthy, Eric Sivers, Jason Garber, Jon Dilliard, Rachel Clark, Myla 
Kelly, Tim Davis, Eric Regensburger, Eric Urban, Jon Kenning, Mike Suplee, Darryl Barton, 
Joanna McLaughlin, Haley Sir, Derek Fleming, Emilie Erich Hoffman – WQD;  
Chad Anderson, Susan Bawden – ENF;  
Amy Steinmetz – WMRD; Julie Merkel, Rebecca Harbage, Liz Ulrich, Ed Warner, Shawn Juers, 
Carl Anderson, Ed Coleman, Dave Klemp, Chris Cronin, Chris Dorrington – AEMD 
  

Interested & Other Persons Present: Wade Steer – Western Energy Co.; John Martin, Vicki 
Marquis – Holland and Hart; Greg Brice – Hydrometrics; Steve Story – DNRC Board of Water 
Well Contractors; John Tietz, Brian Thompson – BKBH; Landy Leep – Copper Ridge 
Development; Shiloh Hernandez – Western Environmental Law Center; Anne Hedges – MEIC;  
 

 

 
 
Roll was called: two Board members were present in person and three Board members were present 
via teleconference, providing a quorum.  
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I.A. Administrative Items – Review and Approve Minutes 
 

I.A.1.  
 
 

October 5, 2018 Meeting Minutes   
     
Mr. DeArment MOVED to approve the meeting minutes. Chairperson Deveny 
SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously. 
 

I.B.1. Establish the 2019 Meeting Schedule 
 
Mr. DeArment MOVED to approve the 2019 meeting schedule. Chairperson Deveny 
SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously. 

 
II.A.1. Briefing Items – Enforcement Cases assigned to the Hearing Examiner 
 

II.A.1.a. In the matter of the Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing by CMG Construction, 
Inc. Regarding Notice of Violations and Administrative Compliance and Penalty 
Order, Docket No. OC-17-12, BER 2017-08 OC.  
 
Ms. Clerget said the parties are working out the technical details of the case  and CMG 
will file a notice of dismissal once the parties have reached an agreement. 
 

II.A.1.b. In the Matter of Appeal Revocation of Cosa, Fischer Land Development 
Subdivision [ES# 42-78-S3-173] and Fischer Homes [ES# 42-80-T1-15], Roger 
Emery, Sidney, Richland County, Montana. [FID# 2214], BER 2018-03 SUB.  
 
Ms. Clerget stated the stay is still in place as the parties work on their settlement terms.  
 

II.A.1.c. In the matter of violations of the Opencut Mining Act by Wagoner Family 
Partnership, d/b/a Wagoner’s Sand and Gravel, at River Gravel Pit, Flathead 
County, Montana (Opencut No. 1798; FID 2512), BER 2017-02 OC.  
 
Ms. Clerget said a stipulation for dismissal will be filed soon.  
 

II.A.1.d. In the Matter of Violation of the Metal Mine Reclamation Act by Little Bear 
Construction, Inc. at Bob Weaver Pit, Granite County, Montana. (SMED NO. 46-117C; 
FID # 2567), BER 2018-02 MM. 
 
Ms. Clerget stated there’s a scheduling order in place and the parties are proceeding 
accordingly.  

 
 
II.A.2. Briefing Items – Non-Enforcement Cases Assigned to a Hearing Examiner 
 

II.A.2.b. An appeal in the matter of amendment application AM3, Signal Peak Energy 
LLC’s Bull Mountain Coal Mine #1 Permit No. C1993017, BER 2016-07 SM. 
 
Ms. Clerget said she extended all pretrial motions pending an issue that’s before the 
District Court.   
 

II.A.2.c. In the matter of Appeal Amendment AM4, Western Energy Company Rosebud 
Strip Mine Area B, Permit No. C1984003B, BER 2016-03 SM. 
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Ms. Clerget stated she has the proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law from 
the parties and will have a decision to the Board soon.  
 

II.A.2.d.  In the matter of the notice of appeal and request for hearing by Montanore Minerals 
Corporation Regarding Issuance of MPDES Permit No. MT0030279, Libby, Montana, 
BER 2017-03 WQ. 
 
Ms. Clerget held a trial earlier in the week and the parties are working their proposed 
findings of facts and conclusions of law. 

  
II.A.2.e. 

 
 

In the matter of the notice of appeal of final MPDES Permit No. MT0000264 issued 
by DEQ for the Laurel Refinery in Laurel, Yellowstone County, Montana, BER 
2015-07 WQ. 
 
Ms. Clerget stated there is a six month stay in place until February 25, 2019. 
 

II.A.2.f. In the Matter of Notice of Appeal of Opencut Mining Permit #2351 Issued to 
Golden West Properties, LLC by Frank and Paulette Wagner Regarding 
Concerns and Unanswered Questions. BER 2018-04 OC, and In the Matter of 
Notice of Appeal of Opencut Mining Permit #2351 Issued to Golden West 
Properties, LLC by David Weyer on behalf of the Residents of Walden Meadows 
Subdivision. BER 2018-05 OC. 
 
Ms. Clerget has issued a scheduling order and the parties are proceeding accordingly. 

 
 
I.A.3. Briefing Items – Contested Cases Not Assigned to a Hearing Examiner 
 

II.A.3.a. 
 

 

In the matter of the notice of appeal and request for hearing by Western Energy 
Company (WECO) regarding its MPDES Permit No. MT0023965 issued for 
WECO’s Rosebud Mine in Colstrip, BER 2012-12 WQ. 
 
Ms. Bowers stated Western Energy filed an unopposed motion for an extension of the due 
date to file the reply brief.  The motion was granted and briefs are due January 2019. The 
matter is still before the Montana Supreme Court.  

  
III.A. Action Items – APPEAL, AMEND, OR ADOPT FINAL RULES: 
 

III.A.1. The Department will propose that the Board initiate rulemaking to add six 
human health ground water criteria into department Circular DEQ-7: diallate; 
dioxane, 1,4-; iron; manganese; perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS); and 
perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA.) 
 
Dr. Suplee briefed the Board and answered questions. 
 
Chairperson Deveny opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Mr. Brice asked the Board to delay any decision on initiating the rulemaking and 
stated his concerns. 
 
Dr. Suplee, Mr. Mathieus, Tim Davis, Eric Urban answered questions. 
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Mr. Busby MOVED to continue with rulemaking for four of the criteria: dialliate, 
dioxane 1, 4, and perfluorooctane and have a separate rulemaking for the other two: 
manganese and iron. Mr. Tweeten SECONDED for purpose of discussion. The 
motion FAILED to pass on a 1-4 vote. 
 
Mr. DeArment MOVED to initiate rulemaking as requested by the Department and to 
assign the Board attorney as the Hearings Examiner for purposes of conducting a 
rulemaking hearing. Chairperson Deveny SECONDED. The motions PASSED on a 
4-1 vote. 
  

III.A.2. The Department will propose that the Board initiate rulemaking to establish an 
air quality registration program for portable sources of emissions by amending 
and adopting the following air quality rules in ARM Title 17, Chapter 8: 

a. Amend ARM 17.8.744 to provide a general exclusion from the 
requirement to obtain a Montana air quality permit for facilities that 
register with the department in accordance with the proposed new 
rules. 

b. Adopt New Rules I-IX to establish a registration process, applicability 
criteria, and rules of operation for certain portable sources of 
emissions. 

 
Ms. Harbage briefed the Board and answered questions. 
 
Chairperson Deveny opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Mr. Thompson thanked the Air Quality Bureau for the hard work and outreach to 
stakeholders urged the Board to approve the rulemaking. 
 
Mr. DeArment MOVED to initiate rulemaking as requested by the Department and to 
assign the Board attorney as the Hearings Examiner for purposes of conducting a 
rulemaking hearing and to change the date Ms. Harbage requested in the notice. 
Chairperson Deveny SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously. 
 

III.A.3. The Department will propose that the Board initiate rulemaking for proposed 
amendments to Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 17.30.1001, 17.30.1334, 
17.38.101 and Department Circulars DEQ-1, DEQ-2, and DEQ-3. The 
amendments include adding or updating a citation to New Rule I. The 2017 
Legislature required the Department to initiate rulemaking to implement HB 368 
- establishing the minimum setback distance between a well and a lagoon. New 
Rule I implements HB 368 and establishes the minimum setback through 
Department rulemaking. New Rule I will be initiated concurrently with the Board 
rulemaking. 
 
Mr. Regensburger briefed the Board and answered questions. 
 
Chairperson Deveny opened the floor for public comment. None were offered. 
 
Mr. Tweeten MOVED to initiate rulemaking as requested by the Department and to 
assign the Board attorney as the Hearings Examiner for purposes of conducting a 
rulemaking hearing. The motion PASSED unanimously. 
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III.A.4. The Department will propose that the Board adopt amendments to 
Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 17.30.103, 17.30.106, 17.30.108 and 
17.30.109 regarding 401 Certification. 
 
Mr. Garber briefed the Board and answered questions.  
 
Chairperson Deveny opened the floor for public comment. None were offered. 
 
Chairperson Deveny MOVED to adopt the amendments to the Administrative Rules 
of Montana pertaining to the 401 certifications. Mr. DeArment SECONDED. The 
motion PASSED unanimously.  

 
III.B. Action on Contested Cases 
 
         III.B.1. In the matter of violations of the Water Quality Act by Reflections at Copper Ridge, 

LLC, at Reflections at Copper Ridge Subdivision, Billings, Yellowstone County 
(MTR105376), BER 2015-01 WQ and in the matter of violations of the Water Quality 
Act by Copper Ridge Development Corporation at Copper Ridge Subdivision, 
Billings, Yellowstone County (MTR105377), BER 2015-02 WQ.  
 
The Board heard oral arguments from parties on Copper Ridge’s Motion to Strike. 
Chairperson Deveny MOVED to deny the motion to strike. Mr. Tweeten SECONDED, 
the motion PASSED unanimously. The Board began oral arguments on the issue of 
owner/operator, then broke for lunch. Upon returning from the lunch break there was 
not a quorum to continue to hear the case so oral arguments were postponed. 

 
IV. Board Counsel Update 
 
 Ms. Clerget had no updates. 

 
V. General Public Comment 
 
 None were offered. 

 
VI. Adjournment 
 
 Chairperson Deveny MOVED to adjourn. Mr. DeArment SECONDED. Chairperson 

Deveny adjourned the meeting at 1:10 p.m. 

                                  Board of Environmental Review December 7, 2018, minutes approved: 

 
 
 

    ______________________________________________ 
      CHRISTINE DEVENY 
      CHAIRPERSON 
      BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

 
      ___________________ 
      DATE 
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BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
AGENDA ITEM 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR PROPOSED AMENDMENT OF RULE 
 
Agenda Item # III.A.1. 
 
Agenda Item Summary – Because the proposed rulemaking has generated more comments than 
anticipated, the department requests that the board extend the comment period for proposed 
amendments to Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) pertaining to ground water standards 
incorporated by reference into Department Circular DEQ-7.  The department is requesting the close of the 
comment period to be extended by 45 days, from February 8 to March 25, 2018.  The date, time, and 
place of the public hearing to remain the same.  The board initiated rulemaking for the affected board 
rules at its December 7, 2018 regular meeting.  The proposed amendments were published on December 
21, 2017, MAR Notice 17-403, at pages 2446-54 of the 2018 Montana Administrative Register, Issue 
Number 24.  The department also intends to extend the comment period for the affected department 
rules. 
 
List of Affected Board Rules –The proposed amended notice concerns Board rules adopted under 
authority of § 82-4-204, Montana Code Annotated (MCA), at ARM Title 17, chapter 24, subchapter 6, 
specifically ARM 17.24.645 and ARM 17.24.646; § 75-5-301, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 30, subchapter 
5, specifically ARM 17.30.502; §§ 75-5-201 & 75-5-301, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 30, part 6, 
specifically ARM 17.30.619; §§ 75-5-301 & 75-5-303, at ARM Title 17, chapter 30, subchapter 7, specifically 
ARM 17.30.702; §§ 75-5-201 & 75-5-401, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 30, subchapter 10, pertaining to 
the incorporation of ground water standards by reference into Department Circular DEQ-7. 
 
List of Affected Department Rules – The proposed amended notice concerns department rules adopted 
under the authority of § 76-4-104, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 36, subchapter 3, specifically ARM 
17.36.345; §§ 75-10-702  75-10-704, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 55, subchapter 1, specifically ARM 
17.55.109; §§ 75-11-319 & 75-11-505, MCA, at ARM Title 17, chapter 56, subchapters 5 and 6, specifically 
ARM 17.56.507 & ARM 17.56.608, pertaining to ground water standards incorporated by reference into 
Department Circular DEQ-7.  
 
Affected Parties Summary –The parties affected by the proposed extension of the comment period will 
have an additional 45 days to provide comment on the proposed amendments to Department Circular 
DEQ-7 and the related incorporations by reference. 
 
Background – The proposed Department Circular DEQ-7 can be viewed on the department's website at 

http://deq.mt.gov/water/drinkingwater/standards.  The reasons for the modifications are set forth in 

MAR Notice 17-403, at pages 2446-54 of the 2018 Montana Administrative Register, Issue Number 24. 

Hearing Information – The Board appointed Sarah Clerget as hearing officer, to conduct a public hearing 
on February 5, 2019, to take public comment on the proposed amendment of rule. 
 
Board Options – The Board may: 
 

1. Extend the comment period of the rulemaking for the affected Board rules and issue the attached 
amended notice and extension of comment period; 
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2. Determine that the amended notice is not appropriate and decline to extend the comment 
period; or 

3. Modify the notice. 
 
DEQ Recommendation – The Department recommends that the Board extend the comment period for 
this rulemaking for the affected Board rules, as proposed in the attached amended notice.  The proposed 
rulemaking has generated more comments than anticipated and for that reason the board should find it 
necessary to extend the comment period for an additional 45 days.  The date, time, and place of the public 
hearing remain the same. 
 
Enclosures –  

1. Draft Administrative Register Amended Notice and Extension of Comment Period on Proposed 
Amendment of Administrative Rules of Montana 17.24.645, 17.24.646, 17.30.502, 17.30.619, 
17.30.702, 17.30.1001, 17.36.345, 17.55.109, 17.56.507, and 17.56.608. 

2. Notice of Public Hearing on Proposed Amendment, MAR Notice No. 17-403, pages 2446-54 of the 
2018 Montana Administrative Register, Issue Number 24 (Dec. 21, 2018). 
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MAR Notice No. 17-403 24-12/21/18 

-2446- 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
AND THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 
 
In the matter of the amendment of 
ARM 17.24.645, 17.24.646, 
17.30.502, 17.30.619, 17.30.702, 
17.30.1001, 17.36.345, 17.55.109, 
17.56.507, and 17.56.608, pertaining 
to ground water standards 
incorporated by reference into 
Department Circular DEQ-7 

 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
ON PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

 
(RECLAMATION) 

(WATER QUALITY) 
(SUBDIVISIONS) 

(CECRA) 
(UNDERGROUND STORAGE 

TANKS) 
 

 
 TO:  All Concerned Persons 
 
 1.  On February 5, 2019, at 2:00 p.m., the Board of Environmental Review 
and the Department of Environmental Quality will hold a public hearing in Room 111 
of the Metcalf Building, 1520 East Sixth Avenue, Helena, Montana, to consider the 
proposed amendment of the above-stated rules. 
 
 2.  The board and department will make reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities who wish to participate in this rulemaking process or need 
an alternative accessible format of this notice.  If you require an accommodation, 
contact Sandy Scherer, Legal Secretary, no later than 5:00 p.m., January 29, 2019, 
to advise us of the nature of the accommodation that you need.  Please contact 
Sandy Scherer at the Department of Environmental Quality, P.O. Box 200901, 
Helena, Montana 59620-0901; phone (406) 444-2630; fax (406) 444-4386; or e-mail 
sscherer@mt.gov. 
 
 3.  The rules proposed to be amended provide as follows, stricken matter 
interlined, new matter underlined: 
 
 17.24.645  GROUND WATER MONITORING  (1) through (5) remain the 
same. 
 (6)  Methods of sample collection, preservation, and sample analysis must be 
conducted in accordance with 40 CFR Part 136 titled "Guidelines Establishing Test 
Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants" (July 2015) and the department's 
document titled "Department Circular DEQ-7, Montana Numeric Water Quality 
Standards," May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition.  
Copies of Department Circular DEQ-7 are available at the Department of 
Environmental Quality, 1520 E. Sixth Avenue, P.O. Box 200901, Helena, MT 59620-
0901.  Sampling and analyses must include a quality assurance program acceptable 
to the department. 
 (7) and (8) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  82-4-204, MCA 
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 IMP:  82-4-231, 82-4-232, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.24.646  SURFACE WATER MONITORING  (1) through (5) remain the 
same. 
 (6)  Methods of sample collection, preservation, and sample analysis must be 
conducted in accordance with 40 CFR Part 136 titled "Guidelines Establishing Test 
Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants" (July 2015) and Part 434 titled "Coal 
Mining Point Source Category BPT, BAT, BCT Limitations and New Source 
Performance Standards" (January 2002), and the May 2017 [effective month and 
year of this rule amendment] edition of the department's document titled 
"Department Circular DEQ-7, Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards."  Copies 
of 40 CFR Part 136, 40 CFR 434, and Department Circular DEQ-7 are available at 
the Department of Environmental Quality, 1520 E. 6th Ave., P.O. Box 200901, 
Helena, MT 59620-0901.  Sampling and analyses must include a quality assurance 
program acceptable to the department. 
 (7) remains the same. 
 
 AUTH:  82-4-204, MCA 
 IMP:  82-4-231, 82-4-232, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.30.502  DEFINITIONS  The following definitions, in addition to those in 75-
5-103, MCA, and ARM Title 17, chapter 30, subchapters 6 and 7, apply throughout 
this subchapter: 
 (1) through (13) remain the same. 
 (14)  The board adopts and incorporates by reference Department Circular 
DEQ-7, entitled "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" (May 2017 [effective 
month and year of this rule amendment] edition), which establishes numeric water 
quality standards for toxic, carcinogenic, bioconcentrating, nutrient, radioactive, and 
harmful parameters.  Copies of Department Circular DEQ-7 are available from the 
Department of Environmental Quality, P.O. Box 200901, Helena, MT 59620-0901. 
 
 AUTH:  75-5-301, MCA 
 IMP:  75-5-301, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
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DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.30.619  INCORPORATIONS BY REFERENCE  (1)  The board adopts and 
incorporates by reference the following state and federal requirements and 
procedures as part of Montana's surface water quality standards: 
 (a)  Department Circular DEQ-7, entitled "Montana Numeric Water Quality 
Standards" (May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition), 
which establishes numeric water quality criteria for toxic, carcinogenic, 
bioconcentrating, radioactive, and harmful parameters and also establishes human 
health-based water quality criteria for the following specific nutrients with toxic 
effects: 
 (i) through (3) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  75-5-201, 75-5-301, MCA 
 IMP:  75-5-301, 75-5-313, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.30.702  DEFINITIONS  The following definitions, in addition to those in  
75-5-103, MCA, apply throughout this subchapter (Note:  75-5-103, MCA, includes 
definitions for "base numeric nutrient standards," "degradation," "existing uses," 
"high quality waters," "mixing zone," and "parameter"): 
 (1) through (26) remain the same. 
 (27)  The board adopts and incorporates by reference: 
 (a)  Department Circular DEQ-7, entitled "Montana Numeric Water Quality 
Standards" (May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition), 
which establishes numeric water quality standards for toxic, carcinogenic, 
bioconcentrating, radioactive, and harmful parameters and also establishes human 
health-based water quality standards for the following specific nutrients with toxic 
effects: 
 (i) through (e) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  75-5-301, 75-5-303, MCA 
 IMP:  75-5-303, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
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 17.30.1001  DEFINITIONS  The following definitions, in addition to those in 
75-5-103, MCA, apply throughout this subchapter: 
 (1) remains the same. 

 (2)  "DEQ-7" means Department Circular DEQ-7, entitled "Montana Numeric 
Water Quality Standards" (May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule 
amendment] edition), which establishes numeric water quality standards for toxic, 
carcinogenic, radioactive, bioconcentrating, nutrient, and harmful parameters. 

(a)  The board adopts and incorporates by reference Department Circular 
DEQ-7, entitled "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" (May 2017 [effective 
month and year of this rule amendment] edition), which establishes numeric water 
quality standards for toxic, carcinogenic, bioconcentrating, nutrient, radioactive, and 
harmful parameters. 
 (3) through (17) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  75-5-201, 75-5-401, MCA 
 IMP:  75-5-301, 75-5-401, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.36.345  ADOPTION BY REFERENCE  (1)  For purposes of this chapter, 
the department adopts and incorporates by reference the following documents.  All 
references to these documents in this chapter refer to the edition set out below: 
 (a) through (d) remain the same. 
 (e)  Department Circular DEQ-7, "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" 
(May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition); 
 (f) through (2) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  76-4-104, MCA 
 IMP:  76-4-104, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.55.109  INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE  (1)  For the purposes of this 
subchapter, the department adopts and incorporates by reference: 
 (a)  Department Circular DEQ-7, "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" 
(May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition); 
 (b) through (5) remain the same. 
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 AUTH:  75-10-702, 75-10-704, MCA 
 IMP:  75-10-702, 75-10-704, 75-10-711, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.56.507  ADOPTION BY REFERENCE  (1)  For purposes of this 
subchapter, the department adopts and incorporates by reference: 
 (a)  Department Circular DEQ-7, "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" 
(May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition); 
 (b) through (3) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  75-11-319, 75-11-505, MCA 
 IMP:  75-11-309, 75-11-505, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The board and the department are proposing to revise Circular 
DEQ-7 to provide additional human health criteria as discussed in the statement of 
reason for the proposed amendment to ARM 17.56.608 set forth below.  In the event 
that the revised circular is adopted, it is necessary to update the edition of Circular 
DEQ-7 being cited elsewhere in the rules. 
 
 17.56.608  ADOPTION BY REFERENCE  (1)  For purposes of this 
subchapter, the department adopts and incorporates by reference: 
 (a)  Department Circular DEQ-7, "Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards" 
(May 2017 [effective month and year of this rule amendment] edition); 
 (b) through (3) remain the same. 
 
 AUTH:  75-11-319, 75-11-505, MCA 
 IMP:  75-11-309, 75-11-505, MCA 
 
 REASON:  The proposed revised Department Circular DEQ-7 can be viewed 
on the department's website at http://deq.mt.gov/water/drinkingwater/standards.  A 
copy of the proposed revised circular also may be obtained by contacting Mike 
Suplee at (406) 444-0831.  Modifications to the circular and the reasons for the 
modifications are as follows: 
 
Addition of new human health criteria:  The board and the department are proposing 
to revise Department Circular DEQ-7 to provide human health groundwater criteria 
for the following:  diallate; dioxane, 1,4-; iron; manganese; perfluorooctane sulfonate 
(PFOS); and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA).  The proposed criteria concentrations 
are as follows:  diallate, 5.5 µg/L; dioxane, 1,4-, 3 µg/L; iron, 4,000 µg/L; 
manganese, 100 µg/L; PFOS, 0.07 µg/L, PFOA, 0.07 µg/L. 
 
The diallate criterion will provide the department's Hazardous Materials Program of 
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the Waste Management and Remediation Division a clean-up standard for 
hazardous waste permitted facilities.  Standards for dioxane, 1,4-, PFOS, PFOA, 
and iron are also considered important criteria to the Waste Management and 
Remediation Division as cleanup endpoints for remedial activities carried out by that 
division.  Further, standards for Dioxane, 1,4-, PFOS, and PFOA are included in 
EPA Office of Water Health Advisories. 
 
Scientific research has demonstrated that excessive manganese levels can have 
neurobehavioral and neurocognitive impacts on infants (0-6 months).  The new 
proposed criterion was derived for this most-sensitive population.  Manganese is 
considered an important criterion to the Waste Management and Remediation 
Division as a cleanup endpoint. 
 
The human health groundwater criteria were derived using U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) equations for human health criteria (EPA, 2000) and there 
are different equations for toxins and carcinogens.  The criteria were derived 
assuming that exposure is through drinking water only (no accounting for exposure 
through consumption of fish is made).  For example: 
 
Toxic Criterion (µg/L) = {[RfD (mg/kg-day) x RSC x average body weight 
(kg)]/drinking water intake (L/day)} x 1000 µg/mg 
 
where the RfD is a value derived from the no effects or lowest observable effects 
concentration (NOAEL or LOAEL, respectively), and RSC is the relative source 
contribution to account for potential exposure from other environmental media.  EPA 
generally recommends an RSC of 0.2 (i.e., 20 percent of a person's exposure is 
from drinking water).  The default drinking water intake rate for adults is 2.4 L/day 
and the default body weight is 80 kg, both of which are in DEQ-7 (see page 5).  For 
some criteria, sensitive sub-populations required different body weight and drinking 
assumptions than the defaults, and these are detailed below where appropriate. 
 
Citations to several technical documents are made below; the list of these 
documents may be found at the end of this section. 
 
The department derived the diallate criterion using a cancer slope factor of 0.061 
mg/kg-day from the EPA Health Effects Assessment Summary Table (HEAST) 
database (https://epa-heast.ornl.gov/heast.php), default adult weight and drinking 
water intake rates, and Montana's cancer risk factor of 1x 10-5 (per 75-5-301, MCA).  
Dioxane, 1,4- was derived using the IRIS 2013 cancer slope factor (0.1 mg/kg-day), 
default adult weight and drinking water intake rates, and Montana's cancer risk factor 
of 1x 10-5.  PFOS and PFOA criteria are from EPA (2016a; 2016b; 2018) and were 
derived for the most sensitive population, lactating women.  For them, the 90th 
percentile for drinking water intake was 3.6 L/day and they have a lower assumed 
body weight (67 kg) than the overall population.  The iron criterion was calculated 
using a RfD (0.592 mg/kg-day) derived from EPA (2006) and the default adult weight 
and drinking water intake rates. 
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For manganese (a toxin), the department used a RfD of 0.025 mg/kg-day.  The RfD 
was derived using literature toxicology studies (Kern et al., 2010; Kern et al., 2011; 
Beaudin et al., 2013) and a 1000-fold uncertainty factor (UFA = 10, UFH = 10, UFL = 
10), where UFA is uncertainty due to interspecies variability to account for 
extrapolating from laboratory animals to humans, UFH is for intraspecies variability to 
account for variability in the responses within the human population because of 
intrinsic and extrinsic factors, and UFL is applied because a LOAEL and not a 
NOAEL was used in the derivation (EPA, 1993).  The average body weight of infants 
zero to <6 months old was used (6.47 kg; Table 8-1, EPA, 2011) and the 90th 
percentile drinking water ingestion for infants zero to <6 months was 0.966 L/day 
(Table 3-15, EPA, 2011).  The RSC was calculated by subtracting the manganese 
infants receive from formula (21 CFR 107.100) from the LOAEL to give a RSC of 
0.833 (rounded to 0.8 per EPA guidance).  Accounting for significant figures (1 in 
this case), the department derived a water quality standard of 100 µg/L. 
 
Criteria Stringency Compared to Federal Guidelines:  Five of the proposed criteria 
(diallate; dioxane, 1,4-; iron; PFOS; and PFOA) are equivalent to comparable 
federally recommended guidelines (EPA, 2006; HEAST; EPA, 2018).  The proposed 
manganese criterion is more stringent than comparable federal guidelines.  EPA 
recommends a criterion of 300 µg/L (EPA, 2004; EPA, 2018) based on studies of 
dietary intake of manganese.  But more recent peer-reviewed scientific studies (Kern 
et al., 2010; Kern et al., 2011; Beaudin et al., 2013), based on dose-response effects 
on new-born and adult rats, indicate that the criterion should be 100 µg/L (the value 
proposed by the board).  Rat studies were reviewed in EPA (2004) but the quality of 
those studies was not considered adequate to derive a criterion.  The more recent 
scientific works are considered high quality according to EPA Region VIII's drinking 
water toxicologist (Bob Benson, personal communication, 11/8/2018).  As addressed 
above, the proposed manganese criterion is necessary to mitigate harm to the public 
health, specifically zero to <6 months old infants.  Further, it is achievable under 
current technology.  At the municipal scale, dissolved manganese can be removed 
by several technologies (e.g., oxidation/physical separation) which can achieve 
concentrations of 40 µg/L. 
 
Footnote (40):  The board proposes the addition of footnote (40) to DEQ-7, which 
references the Montana Administrative Register (MAR) for instances where the 
derivation of a DEQ-7 human-health criterion is documented in MAR Notice No. 17-
403.  Human health standards are normally flagged in DEQ-7 to indicate which 
information source they were derived from; for example, many are flagged "HA," 
meaning they were derived from nationally-recommended EPA Health Advisory 
documents.  However, the iron and manganese criteria discussed above were 
derived by the department.  If the proposed iron and manganese criteria are adopted 
as human health standards in DEQ-7, then footnote (40) would reference this MAR 
notice. 
 
Footnote (41):  The board proposes new footnote (41), which clarifies that the sum 
of PFOA and PFOS shall not exceed the individual standards for each. 
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References Cited:  Technical documents cited above are provided here: 
 
EPA. 1993.  Reference Dose (RfD):  Description and Use in Health Risk 
Assessments. 
Background Document 1A.  https://www.epa.gov/iris/reference-dose-rfd-description-
and-use-health-risk-assessments. 
 
EPA. 2000.  Methodology for Deriving Ambient Water Quality Criteria for the 
Protection of Human Health.  Technical Support Document.  Volume 1:  Risk 
Assessment.  Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology.  EPA-822-B-00-
005. 
 
EPA. 2006.  Provisional Peer Reviewed Toxicity Values and Iron and Compounds 
(CASRN 7439-89-6), Derivation of Subchronic and Chronic Oral RfDs.  Superfund 
Health Risk Technical Support Center, National Center for Environmental 
Assessment, Office of Research and Development, U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency, Cincinnati, OH 45268. 
 
EPA. 2011.  Exposure Factors Handbook:  2011 Edition.  Office of Research and 
Development.  EPA/600/R-090/052F. 
 
EPA. 2016a.  Drinking Water Health Advisory for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS).  
Office of Water.  EPA 822-R-16-004. 
 
EPA. 2016b.  Health Effects Support Document for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA).  
Office of Water.  EPA 822-R-16-003. 
 
EPA. 2018.  2018 Edition of the Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories 
Tables.  Office of Water.  EPA 822-F-18-001. 
 
Kern, C., G. Stanwood and D.R. Smith. 2010.  Pre-weaning Manganese Exposure 
Causes Hyperactivity, Disinhibition, and Spatial Learning and Memory Deficits 
Associated with Altered Dopamine Receptor and Transporter Levels.  Synapse 64: 
363-378. 
 
Kern, C. and D.R. Smith. 2011.  Pre-weaning Mn Exposure Leads to Prolonged 
Astrocyte Activation and Lasting Effects on the Dopaminergic System in Adult Male 
Rats.  Synapse 65:  532-544. 
 
Beaudin, S. A., S. Nisam and D.R. Smith. 2013.  Early Life Versus Lifelong Oral 
Manganese Exposure Differently Impairs Skilled Forelimb Performance in Adult 
Rats.  Neurotoxicology and Teratology 38: 36-45. 
 
 4.  Concerned persons may submit their data, views, or arguments, either 
orally or in writing, at the hearing.  Written data, views, or arguments may also be 
submitted to Sandy Scherer, Legal Secretary, Department of Environmental Quality, 
1520 E. Sixth Avenue, P.O. Box 200901, Helena, Montana 59620-0901; faxed to 
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(406) 444-4386; or e-mailed to sscherer@mt.gov, no later than 5:00 p.m. February 
8, 2019.  To be guaranteed consideration, mailed comments must be postmarked on 
or before that date. 
 
 5.  The board and department maintain a list of interested persons who wish 
to receive notices of rulemaking actions proposed by this agency.  Persons who 
wish to have their name added to the list shall make a written request that includes 
the name, e-mail, and mailing address of the person to receive notices and specifies 
that the person wishes to receive notices regarding:  air quality; hazardous 
waste/waste oil; asbestos control; water/wastewater treatment plant operator 
certification; solid waste; junk vehicles; infectious waste; public water supply; public 
sewage systems regulation; hard rock (metal) mine reclamation; major facility siting; 
opencut mine reclamation; strip mine reclamation; subdivisions; renewable energy 
grants/loans; wind energy, wastewater treatment or safe drinking water revolving 
grants and loans; water quality; CECRA; underground/above ground storage tanks; 
MEPA; or general procedural rules other than MEPA.  Notices will be sent by e-mail 
unless a mailing preference is noted in the request.  Such written request may be 
mailed or delivered to Sandy Scherer, Legal Secretary, Department of 
Environmental Quality, 1520 E. Sixth Ave., P.O. Box 200901, Helena, Montana 
59620-0901, faxed to the office at (406) 444-4386, e-mailed to Sandy Scherer at 
sscherer@mt.gov, or may be made by completing a request form at any rules 
hearing held by the department. 
 
 6.  Sarah Clerget, attorney for the board, or another attorney for the Agency 
Legal Services Bureau, has been designated to preside over and conduct the 
hearing. 
 
 7.  The bill sponsor contact requirements of 2-4-302, MCA, do not apply. 
 
 8.  With regard to the requirements of 2-4-111, MCA, the board and the 
department have determined that the amendment of the above-referenced rules will 
not significantly and directly impact small businesses. 
 
Reviewed by:    BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
/s/ Edward Hayes      BY:  /s/ Christine Deveny     
EDWARD HAYES    CHRISTINE DEVENY 
Rule Reviewer    Chairman 
 
      DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL 
      QUALITY 
 
        BY:  /s/ Shaun McGrath     
  SHAUN McGRATH 
  Director 
 
 Certified to the Secretary of State, December 11, 2018. 
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
AND THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 
 
In the matter of the amendment of 
ARM 17.24.645, 17.24.646, 
17.30.502, 17.30.619, 17.30.702, 
17.30.1001, 17.36.345, 17.55.109, 
17.56.507, and 17.56.608, pertaining 
to ground water standards 
incorporated by reference into 
Department Circular DEQ-7 

 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

AMENDED NOTICE AND 
EXTENSION OF COMMENT 

PERIOD ON PROPOSED 
AMENDMENT 

 
(RECLAMATION) 

(WATER QUALITY) 
(SUBDIVISIONS) 

(CECRA) 
(UNDERGROUND STORAGE 

TANKS) 
 

 
 TO:  All Concerned Persons 
 
 1.  On December 21, 2018, the Board of Environmental Review and the 
Department of Environmental Quality published MAR Notice 17-403 pertaining to the 
public hearing on proposed amendment of the above-referenced rule at page 2446 
of the 2018 Montana Administrative Register, Issue Number 24. 
 
 2.  The board and department will make reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities who wish to participate in this rulemaking process or need 
an alternative accessible format of this notice.  If you require an accommodation, 
contact Myla Kelly no later than 5:00 p.m., March 18, 2019, to advise us of the 
nature of the accommodation that you need.  Please contact Myla Kelly at 
Department of Environmental Quality, P.O. Box 200901, Helena, Montana 59620-
0901; phone (406) 444-3939; fax (406) 444-4386; or e-mail MKelly2@mt.gov. 
 
 3.  The proposed rulemaking has generated more comments than anticipated.  
For that reason, the board and department are extending the comment period for an 
additional 45 days.  The date, time, and place of the public hearing remain the same. 
 
 4.  Concerned persons may submit their data, views, or arguments, either 
orally or in writing, at the hearing.  Written data, views, or arguments may also be 
submitted to Sandy Scherer, Legal Secretary, Department of Environmental Quality, 
1520 E. Sixth Avenue, P.O. Box 200901, Helena, Montana 59620-0901; faxed to 
(406) 444-4386; or e-mailed to sscherer@mt.gov, no later than 5:00 p.m. March 25, 
2019.  To be guaranteed consideration, mailed comments must be postmarked on or 
before that date. 
 
 
Reviewed by:    BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
/s/         BY:  /s/        
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EDWARD HAYES    CHRISTINE DEVENY 
Rule Reviewer    Chairman 
 
      DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL 
      QUALITY 
 
        BY:  /s/        
  SHAUN McGRATH 
  Director 
 
 
 Certified to the Secretary of State, ___________, 2019. 
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TELEPHONE:  (406) 444-2026     FAX:  (406) 444-4303 

STATE OF MONTANA 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
AGENCY LEGAL SERVICES BUREAU 

 

 

 

Tim Fox 1712 Ninth Avenue 

Attorney General P.O. Box 201440 

 Helena, MT 59620-1440 

 

 

 

TO:  The Montana Board of Environmental Review 

FROM: Sarah Clerget, Board Attorney 

RE: In the matter of Violations of the Water Quality Act by Reflections at 

Copper Ridge, LLC at Reflections at Copper Ridge subdivision, Billings, 

Yellowstone County, Montana (MTR105376)[FID 2288, Docket No. WQ-

15-07] and in the matter of violations of the Water Quality Act by Copper 

Ridge, Development Corporation at Copper Ridge subdivision, Billings, 

Yellowstone County, Montana. (MTR105377)[FID 2289, Docket No. WQ-

15-08] 

DATE: November 30, 2018 

 

The purpose of this memo is to assist BER when reviewing a hearing examiner’s 

proposed decision in a contested case proceeding.   

 

The record before the Board consists of a written record and an opportunity for the 

parties to make oral arguments to the Board.  Pursuant to the contested cases provisions 

of the Montana Administrative Procedures Act (MAPA), Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-601 et. 

seq., as the hearing examiner in this case, I issued Proposed Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order (Proposed Order) on July 16, 2018.  I also issued an Order 

on Exceptions that same day.  

 

My Proposed Order depends on prior decisions made by the previous hearing examiner, 

Andres Haladay, based on Summary Judgement motions before him. Mr.  Haladay issued 

his Summary Judgment order on August 1, 2017.  Copper Ridge has taken exceptions to 

both my Proposed Order and Mr. Haladay’s Summary Judgment order.  The Board’s 

materials for the December 7th meeting therefore include not only my Proposed Order, 

but also Mr. Haladay’s Order on Summary Judgment, Copper Ridge’s Exceptions Brief, 

and DEQ’s Response Brief. Additionally, on November 26, 2018 (after DEQ filed its 

response), Copper Ridge filed an additional Motion to Strike portions of DEQ’s response 

brief as untimely.  That Motion is currently pending before the Board, and it is therefore 

also included in the Board materials.  
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In addition to the written materials, the parties can make oral arguments to the Board at 

the December 7th meeting. 

 

Based on the written record and the oral arguments before the Board, it must decide, by 

seconded motion, what to do with my Proposed Order.  MAPA provides BER with the 

following options: 

The agency may adopt the proposal for decision as the agency's final order.  

The agency in its final order may reject or modify the conclusions of law and 

interpretation of administrative rules in the proposal for decision but may not 

reject or modify the findings of fact unless the agency first determines from a 

review of the complete record and states with particularity in the order that the 

findings of fact were not based upon competent substantial evidence or that the 

proceedings on which the findings were based did not comply with essential 

requirements of law.  The agency may accept or reduce the recommended 

penalty in a proposal for decision but may not increase it without a review of 

the complete record. 

Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-621(3).  

 

In other words, BER has three options regarding what action to take upon review of a 

hearing examiner’s proposed order: 

(1) Accept the Order on Summary Judgment and Proposed Order in their 

entirety and adopt them as the Board’s final order; 

(2) Accept the findings of fact in the Order on Summary judgment and 

Proposed Order, but modify the conclusions of law or interpretations of 

administrative rules in either; or 

(3) Reject the Order on Summary judgment and/or the Proposed Order, 

review the entire record that was before the hearing examiner, find that 

the Proposed Order is not supported by substantial evidence, and modify 

the findings of fact and conclusions of law in the proposed order 

accordingly. This could mean a modified order on summary judgment, 

an order denying summary judgment and ordering a hearing, or some 

combination of the two.   

 

When choosing among these three options, the Board should keep certain legal standards 

in mind.  Regarding options (2) and (3), the agency may “correct a hearing examiner’s 

incorrect conclusions of law” in a final order, without having to review the entire factual 

record.  Mont. Dept. Transp. v. Mont. Dept. Labor and Indus., 2016 MT 282, ¶ 23 

(herein, MDOT); Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-621(3).  However, the agency is more 
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constrained with regard to modifying findings of fact.  The agency cannot discard a 

hearing examiner’s factual findings.  Mayer v. Bd. of Psychologists, 2014 MT 85, ¶¶ 7, 

27-29.  “Under MAPA, an agency may reject a hearing officer’s findings of fact only if, 

upon review of the complete record, the agency first determines that the findings were 

not based upon competent substantial evidence.”  Blaine Cnty. v. Stricker, 2017 MT 80, 

¶ 25 ((internal quotations marks omitted; citing Moran v. Shotgun Willies, 270 Mont. 47, 

51, 889 P.2d 1185, 1187 (1995), Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-621(3)).  “In reviewing findings 

of fact, the question is not whether there is evidence to support different findings, but 

whether competent substantial evidence supports the findings actually made.”  Mayer, 

¶ 27 (citing Knowles v. State ex rel. Lindeen, 2009 MT 415, ¶ 21 (emphasis supplied in 

Knowles)).   

 

“An agency abuses its discretion if it modifies the findings of a hearing officer without 

first determining that the findings were not supported by substantial evidence.”  Stricker, 

¶ 25. “[A]n agency’s rejection or modification of a hearing officer’s findings cannot 

survive judicial review unless the court determines as a matter of law that the hearing 

examiner’s findings are not supported by substantial evidence.”1  Id. (internal citations 

omitted).  With regard to whether substantial credible evidence supports the factual 

findings, Stricker explained: 

Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as 

adequate to support a conclusion.  It consists of more [than] a mere scintilla 

of evidence but may be less than a preponderance.  The evidence is viewed 

in the light most favorable to the prevailing party when determining whether 

findings are supported by substantial credible evidence. 

Stricker, ¶ 26 (internal citations and quotations omitted); see also Mayer, ¶ 27 (quoting 

Black’s Law Dictionary 635, 636, 639, 640 (Bryan A. Garner ed., 9th ed., Thomson 

Reuters 2009)).   

 

Members of the Board may therefore look at any portions of the underlying record in 

order to decide whether or not findings of facts are supported by “competent substantial 

evidence,” but once the Board determines that factual findings are not so supported, the 

Board must review the entire record before modifying any fact found by the Hearing 

Examiner. 

 

Once a decision is made, BER may utilize the Board Secretary or Board Attorney to 

assist in drafting the final order memoralizing the Board’s substantive decision, for the 

                                              
1 This standard should not be confused with the legal determination of whether the facts, as found, meet a party’s 

burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  See Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. v. Mont. Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, 

2005 MT 96, P17-26. 
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signature of the Board Chair.  If the decision is dispositive (ending the case), then the 

aggrieved party may appeal to state District Court for review.  If the Board’s decision is 

not dispositive, the Board can decide to retain jurisdiction of this matter or assign it to a 

hearings examiner for further proceedings.  
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 

IN THE MATTER OF: 
VIOLATIONS OF THE WATER 
QUALITY ACT BY COPPER RIDGE, 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AT 
COPPER RIDGE SUBDIVISION, 
BILLINGS, YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, 
MONTANA. (MTR105377) [FID 2289, 
DOCKET NO. WQ-15-08] 

CASE NO. BER 2015-02 WQ 

ORDER ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

The Parties have filed cross motions for summary judgment and have had the 

opportunity for oral argument.  Both Motions for Summary Judgment are granted in 

part and denied in part.  A hearing is still necessitated in this matter, and a 

Scheduling Order is issued in conjunction with this Order, setting forth the process 

going forward. 

FACTS 

1. On September 9, 2013, DEQ conducted a compliance evaluation

inspection at the Reflections at Copper Ridge (Reflections) and Copper Ridge 

Subdivisions. 

2. DEQ documented areas with construction activity that it believed were

not authorized under General Permit MTR 100000.  DEQ observed clearing, 

grading, excavation, soil stockpiles, concrete washout areas, and sediment tracking 

on streets.  DEQ documented that the subdivisions did not have Best Management 

Practices (BMPs) in place to control or mitigate the discharge of pollutants 

associated with storm water runoff from construction at the subdivisions. 

3. On September 23, 2013, DEQ sent a Violation Letter to Gary Oakland

of the Copper Ridge Development Corporation. 

4. The letter stated “The Montana Department of Environmental Quality

1 August 2017

9:27 am
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(DEQ) has determined Copper Ridge Development Corporation is in violation of 

the Montana Water Quality Act (WQA) at the Copper Ridge Subdivision and 

Reflections at Copper Ridge Subdivision located in Billings, Montana and is 

notifying Copper Ridge Development Corporation of a formal enforcement action.” 

5. The letter documented conditions observed at Copper Ridge and 

Reflections, on September 9, 2013. 

6. DEQ conducted a CEI of construction disturbance observed within the 

respective subdivisions and the impact on storm water discharge into Cove Ditch. 

7. DEQ concluded: 
 
Based on the facility site inspection and the documentation reviewed, 
the DEQ has determined that Copper Ridge Development 
Corporation is in violation of the following provisions of the 
Montana Water Quality Act: 
 

 Unauthorized discharge of wastes to state waters without a 
valid permit is a violation of 75-5-605(2)(c) of the Montana 
Code Annotated (MCA). 

 Causing pollution of state waters or to place or cause to be 
placed any wastes where they will cause pollution of any state 
waters is a violation of 75-5-605(1)(1) [sic] MCA. 

8. DEQ explained it was “initiating a formal enforcement action,” and 

requested Copper Ridge Development Corporation complete corrective actions by 

October 18, 2013.  DEQ further explained:  
 
this letter of violation is intended to inform Copper Ridge 
Development of the formal enforcement action and require 
corrective actions to demonstrate compliance with the Montana 
Water Quality Act.  If Copper Ridge Development Corporation 
believes the facts stated in this letter are inaccurate or the necessary 
corrective actions are not achievable by the required dates please 
contact me upon receipt of this letter.  DEQ will take into 
consideration any documentation that indicates the violations did not 
occur, or that they occurred differently than described above. 

9. On December 17, 2013, DEQ received a Notice of Intent (NOI) and 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) from both Copper Ridge and 

Reflections.  

10. Section C of the NOI and SWPPP forms provides for the 
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“Owner/Operator” to provide information. 

11. On both the NOI and SWPPP, Reflections identified itself as the 

“Owner/Operator.” 

12. On the NOI, Reflections described the construction activity as 

“construction of new single-family homes and the necessary landscaping to 

complete the third and fourth filing of the Copper Ridge subdivision.  A material 

stockpiling area (containing the proposed concrete washout area) in the area of the 

Fifth filing as well as five lots in the first filing that have not yet achieved final 

stabilization have also been included in this SWPPP area.” 

13. On both the NOI and SWPPP, Copper Ridge identified itself as the 

“Owner/Operator.” 

14. On the NOI, Copper Ridge described its construction activity as 

“construction of new single-family homes and the necessary landscaping to 

complete the first, second and third filing of the Reflection at Copper Ridge 

subdivision.” 

15. On the SWPPP, Copper Ridge described the project as “construction 

of single-family homes and establishment of vegetation. 

16. On October 21, 2014, DEQ conducted a phase I storm water CEI 

inspection for Copper Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge. 

17. On December 9, 2014, DEQ sent Violation Letters to Copper Ridge 

and Reflections at Copper Ridge, by certified mail.   

18. The Violation Letters noted a violation for “[f]ailure to conduct 

inspections at required intervals in violation of § 75-5-605(1)(b), MCA, 

Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 17.30.1342(a), and Part 2.3 of the General 

Permit for Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity.” 

 

19. The Violation Letters also noted a violation for “[f]ailure to retain and 
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make available records listed in 2.5 of Permit No. MTR100000, including the 

complete signed NOI and the latest signed SWPPP in violation of Section 75-5-

605(1)(b), MCA, ARM 17.30.1342(a), and Part 2.5 of Permit No. MTR100000.” 

20. The Violation Letters also noted a violation for “[f]ailure to maintain a 

SWPPP that describes the intended sequence of construction activity; that provides 

an implementation schedule; and that clearly describes the relationship between 

each phase of construction and the best management practices (BMPs) to be 

employed in violation of Section 75-5-605(1)(b), MCA, ARM 17.30.1342(a), and 

Part 3 of Permit No. MTR100000.” 

21. Finally the Violation Letters noted a violation for “[f]ailure to 

properly design, install and maintain effective BMPs in violation of § 75-5-

605(1)(b), MCA, ARM 17.30.1342(1), and Parts 2.1, 3.1 and 3.7 of Permit No. 

MTR 100000.” 

22. The Violation Letters concluded: 
 
The purpose of this letter is to provide you with notice that you are in 
violation of the Montana Water Quality Act, rules adopted under that 
act, and permit requirements, all of which require your compliance.  
If you fail to respond to this letter by addressing the above-listed 
violations in a timely manner, you may be subject to administrative 
or civil enforcement actions to compel compliance and seek 
penalties. 

23. On March 27, 2015, DEQ served Reflections at Copper Ridge and 

Copper Ridge with respective Administrative Compliance and Penalty Orders. 

24. The respective Penalty Orders identified four violations by Copper 

Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge.  

25. First, DEQ stated the subdivisions “violated ARM 17.30.1105 from 

2006 until December 23, 2013, by conducting construction activities that discharged 

storm water to state waters prior to submitting an NOI.”  

  

26. Second, DEQ stated the subdivisions “violated 75-5-605(2)(c), MCA, 
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from at least 2006 to December 23, 2013 by illicitly discharging water associated 

with construction activities to state water without a permit.” 

27. Third, DEQ stated the subdivisions “violated Section 75-5-605(1)(a), 

MCA, ARM 17.30.624(2)(f) and ARM 17.30.629(2)(f) from at least May 2012 to at 

least October 21, 2014, by placing waste where it will cause pollution and by 

contributing sediments and other pollutants that will increase the concentration of 

sediment, oils, settleable solids, and other debris above levels that are naturally 

occurring in the state surface waters.” 

28. Fourth, DEQ stated the subdivisions violated “75-5-605(1)(b), MCA,” 

for violating conditions of the General Permit. 

29. Additional facts are interposed, as necessary, throughout resolution of 

the individual arguments. 

ANALYSIS 

 The parties have filed cross-motions for summary judgment.  Copper Ridge 

and Reflections moved for summary judgment on the following bases: 
 

1. All alleged violations should be dismissed because neither Copper 
Ridge nor Reflections constitute an owner or operator. 

2. All alleged violations should be dismissed because Copper Ridge and 
Reflections did not discharge to state waters without a permit. 

3. The third alleged violation should be dismissed because Copper Ridge 
and Reflections did not place waste where it would cause pollution. 

4. All alleged violations should be dismissed because DEQ did not 
comply with mandatory notice provisions. 

5. DEQ cannot assess administrative penalties because it did not comply 
with mandatory notice provisions. 

 

DEQ has moved for partial summary judgment to establish liability for all four 

alleged violations.  DEQ has not moved for summary judgment regarding 

appropriate corrective action and penalty amounts. 

 
 
 
 
 
I. DEQ MET ITS NOTICE REQUIREMENTS WITH REGARD TO THE 
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SECOND, THIRD AND FOURTH ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 
AGAINST COPPER RIDGE AND REFLECTIONS. 

 Copper Ridge and Reflections have argued DEQ did not comply with Mont. 

Code Ann. §§ 75-5-617, 75-5-611 and ARM 17.30.2003 (now repealed).  The 

analysis will begin with these three statutes because, if Copper Ridge’s Motion is 

granted no further substantive analysis will be required for the respective alleged 

violation.   
 

A. The September 23, 2013 and December 9, 2014 Letters Satisfied 
the Requirements of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-617(2). 

 

 Reflections and Copper Ridge argue DEQ did not issue a letter notifying 

them of alleged violations as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-617(2).  Montana 

Code Ann. § 75-5-617(1) provides that whenever DEQ finds a person in violation of 

Title 75, Chapter Five, “a rule adopted under this chapter, or a condition or 

limitation in a permit, authorization, or order issued under this chapter, the 

department shall initiate an enforcement response.”  An enforcement response 

includes administrative or judicial penalties under Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611.  

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-617(1)(d).  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-617(2) places a notice 

limitation on enforcement responses: “Unless an alleged violation represents an 

imminent threat to human health, safety, or welfare or to the environment, the 

department shall first issue a letter notifying the person of the violation and 

requiring compliance.  If the person fails to respond to the conditions in the 

department's letter, then the department shall take further action as provided in 

subsection (1).”  Based on the plain language of this statute, DEQ may not bring an 

administrative proceeding for penalties unless the notice requirements are met. 

 On September 23, 2013, DEQ notified Copper Ridge and Reflections at 

Copper Ridge of three of the four alleged violations that form the basis for 

administrative penalties in this matter: (1) conducting construction activities that 

discharged storm water into state waters prior to submitting an NOI, discharging 
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water associated with construction activities to state water without a permit, and (3) 

placing waste where it will cause pollution.  The September 23, 2013 letter notified 

Copper Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge that part of the corrective action was 

to “implement and maintain the SWPPP in accordance with the general permit for 

Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity.”  Furthermore, 

Copper Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge were to “[c]omply with the 

provision of the general permit for Storm Water Discharges Associated with 

Construction Activity.”  In addition, Reflections and Copper Ridge were instructed 

to implement BMPs to control pollutants associated with construction activity, 

 On December 9, 2014, DEQ notified Copper Ridge and Reflections at 

Copper Ridge of observed non-compliance with the General Permit for Storm Water 

Discharges Associated with Construction Activity.  DEQ also notified Copper 

Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge that they had failed to design, install and 

maintain effective BMPs.  Despite DEQ’s finding of non-compliance with the 

corrective actions requested in the September 23, 2013 Letter, DEQ gave Copper 

Ridge and Reflections further time to correct these alleged violations. 

 Based on the foregoing, DEQ complied with Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

617(2).  On two occasions, DEQ provided Reflections and Copper Ridge with 

notices of violation and conditions of compliance.  DEQ’s violation letters notified 

Copper Ridge and Reflections the Department considered them out of compliance 

with their storm water discharge permit obligations, notified them of the salient 

statutes, permit provisions and administrative rules, and informed them of the 

necessary corrective action.  DEQ complied with Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-617(2) 

and was permitted to undertake an enforcement response as provided in Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-617(1). 

 

B. Compliance with Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611. 
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 Reflections and Copper Ridge next argue DEQ did not comply with the 

procedural provisions of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611 and cannot pursue 

administrative penalties.  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1) provides:  
 
When the department has reason to believe that a violation of this 
chapter, a rule adopted under this chapter, or a condition of a permit 
or authorization required by a rule adopted under this chapter has 
occurred, it may have a written notice letter served personally or by 
certified mail on the alleged violator or the violator’s agent. 

The written notice letter must state specific information.  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

611(1)(a-e).  DEQ may not assess an administrative penalty until the specific 

provisions of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1)(a-e) have been satisfied.  Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-611(1)(e).  It is undisputed DEQ did not provide a written notice letter 

to Reflections or Copper Ridge prior to issuing the Administrative Order and Notice 

of Violation. 

 However, Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(2) provides an exception to the 

above notice rule.  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(2)(a)(ii) provides, “[t]he 

department may issue an administrative notice and order in lieu of the notice letter 

provided under subsection (1) if the department’s action... seeks an administrative 

penalty only for an activity that it believes and alleges has violated or is violating 

75-5-605.”  Therefore, if the alleged violations in DEQ’s Administrative 

Compliance and Penalty Order only seek penalties for activities DEQ believes and 

alleges violate Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605, DEQ will have complied with the 

procedural provisions of Mont. Code Ann § 75-5-611.  The Department has alleged 

four violations against Copper Ridge and Reflections respectively.  Three of the 

alleged violations satisfy Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(2)(a)(ii) on their face: the 

second, third and fourth.   

 
 
 
 
 
 C.  The Second, Third and Fourth Violations Alleged Violations of 
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Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605. 
 

 DEQ’s second alleged violation states Copper Ridge and Reflections 

“violated 75-5-605(2)(c), MCA, from at least 2006 to December 23, 2013 by illicitly 

discharging water associated with construction activities to state water without a 

permit.”  This is a facial allegation of a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  

Therefore, DEQ was permitted to issue the Administrative Order and Notice in lieu 

of a letter with regard to this alleged violation. 

 DEQ’s fourth alleged violation states that Copper Ridge and Reflections, 

“violated 75-5-605(1)(b), MCA, by violating provisions of the general permit.  Like 

the second violation, discussed above, this is a facial allegation of a violation of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  Therefore, DEQ was permitted to issue the 

Administrative Order and Notice in lieu of a letter with regard to this alleged 

violation. 

 DEQ’s third alleged violation states Copper Ridge and Reflections “violated 

Section 75-5-605(1)(a), MCA, ARM 17.30.624(2)(f) and ARM 17.30.629(2)(f) 

from at least May 2012 to at least October 21, 2014, by placing waste where it will 

cause pollution and by contributing sediments and other pollutants that will increase 

the concentration of sediment, oils, settleable solids, and other debris above levels 

that are naturally occurring in the state surface waters.”  Regardless the references to 

administrative rules, this alleges a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  

Therefore, DEQ was permitted to issue the Administrative Order and Notice in lieu 

of a letter with regard to this alleged violation. 

 D. The First Alleged Violation Did Not Allege a Violation of Mont. 
Code Ann. § 75-5-605. 

 DEQ’s first alleged violation states Copper Ridge and Reflections “violated 

ARM 17.30.1105 from 2006 until December 23, 2013, by conducting construction 

activities that discharged storm water to state waters prior to submitting an NOI.”  
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DEQ asserts “ARM 17.30.1105 provides storm water permit requirements and 

violation of ARM 17.30.1105 is a violation of § 75-5-605.”  DEQ asserts, 

“[v]iolation of ARM 17.30.1105, discharge without a permit, is the act prohibited by 

§ 75-5-605(2), MCA.” 

 A violation of ARM 17.30.1105 is not a violation of § 75-5-605.  When 

ARM 17.30.1105 was promulgated, the only statutes cited as authority were Mont. 

Code Ann. §§ 75-5-201 and 75-5-401.  More importantly, the only implementing 

statute cited was 75-5-401.  Had DEQ or the BER intended violations of ARM 

17.30.1105 to constitute violations of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605, it could have 

been explicitly stated.  In the absence of a reference to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

605, it does not appear a violation of ARM 17.30.1105 constitutes a violation of  

§ 75-5-605.  

 Furthermore, Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1) provides “when the department 

has reason to believe that a violation of this chapter, a rule adopted under this 

chapter or…” (emphasis added).  There is no question that ARM 17.30.1105 was 

adopted pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-201 and 75-5-401.  ARM 17.30.1105 

was not adopted pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  This makes alleged 

violations of ARM 17.30.1105 subject to the general notice requirement under 75-5-

611(1), prior to seeking an administrative penalty.  

 Moreover, DEQ’s argument is basically that a violation of Mont. Code Ann. 

§ 75-5-605(2)(c) is identical to a violation of ARM 17.30.1105(1)(a).  A cursory 

reading of the two provisions demonstrates they are not identical.  Moreover, if 

DEQ’s argument was accepted, it would essentially permit duplicative violations, 

allowing DEQ to bring a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605 twice: once for a 

violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c) and once for violation of ARM 

17.30.1105(1)(a).  This would be superfluous or redundant charge stacking, does not 

make sense, and would attempt to work-around any statutory caps on maximum 
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damages.  See Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(9)(d). 

 Based on the foregoing, DEQ was required to comply with Mont. Code Ann. 

§ 75-5-611(1)(a-e) to provide Copper Ridge and Reflections notice of the alleged 

violations of ARM 17.30.1105.  The exception under Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

611(2)(a)(ii) did not apply because a violation of 17.30.1105 is not a violation of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  As a result “an administrative penalty may not be 

assessed until the provision of [Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1)] have been 

complied with.”  DEQ may not seek an administrative penalty for violation of ARM 

17.30.1105. 
 
 E. DEQ’s Second, Third and Fourth Alleged Violations, all Allege 

Violations of Major Extent and Gravity, Class I Violations, or 
Both. 

 Copper Ridge and Reflections moved for Summary Judgment based on 

DEQ’s failure to comply with notice requirements contained in ARM 17.30.2003.  

DEQ served the Notices of Violation and Administrative penalty in March of 2015. 

At that time ARM 17.30.2003 was in effect.  ARM 17.30.2003 was repealed on 

March 19, 2016.  The procedures set forth in ARM 17.30.2003 applied to initiation 

of an administrative proceeding against Copper Ridge and Reflections. 

 ARM 17.30.2003 imposed greater requirements on DEQ than Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-611.  Instead of merely parroting the exception contained in Mont. 

Code Ann. § 75-5-611(2)(a)(ii), this administrative rule imposed additional 

requirements before DEQ could seek an administrative penalty for violations of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605.  Subsection 7 provided: 

 

In lieu of the notice letter under (2), the department may issue an 

administrative notice together with an administrative order if the 

department’s action: 
 
  (a) does not involve assessment of an administrative penalty; or 
 
 
 

(b) seeks an administrative penalty only for an activity that the 
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department believes and alleges was or is a violation of 75-5-605, 
MCA, and the violation was or is: 

   (i) a class I violation as described in ARM 17.30.2001(1); or 
(ii) a violation of major extent and gravity as described in ARM 
17.4.303. 
 

ARM 17.30.2003(7).  Even for alleged violations of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605, 

DEQ was required to provide prior notice unless DEQ alleged (1) a class I violation, 

or (2) a violation of major extent and gravity.   

 DEQ’s second alleged violation alleged a violation of major extent and 

gravity, and a Class I violation.  DEQ’s third alleged violation alleged a violation of 

major extent and gravity.  The fourth alleged a Class I violation.  The first alleged 

violation will not be addressed because it did not allege a violation of Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-605. 

 F. Violation 2 Alleged a Violation of Major Extent and Gravity and a 
Class I Violation. 

 DEQ alleged a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c) for 

“discharging storm water into the state waters without a permit.”  DEQ explained 

the basis for its Extent and Gravity analysis.  It determined the Extent and Gravity 

factor was .85, which constitutes a violation of major gravity and extent. 

 Furthermore, at the time this proceeding was filed, it was a Class I violation 

to discharge waste into state waters without a permit.  ARM 17.30.2001(1)(b) (now 

repealed).  DEQ’s second alleged violation alleged both a Class I violation and a 

violation of major extent and gravity.  As a result, ARM 17.30.2003(7) did not 

impose any additional notice requirements before issuing the Administrative 

Compliance and Penalty Orders. 

 G. Violation 3 Alleged a Violation of Major Extent and Gravity 

 DEQ’s Notice of Violation and Administrative Penalty alleged a violation of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(a) for placing waste where it will cause pollution.  

DEQ explained the basis for its Gravity and Extent analysis.  It determined the 
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Extent and Gravity factor was .85, which constitutes a violation of major Extent and 

Gravity.  Therefore, DEQ’s second alleged violation alleged a violation of major 

Extent and Gravity.  As a result, ARM 17.30.2003(7) did not impose any additional 

notice requirements before issuing the Administrative Compliance and Penalty 

Orders. 

 H. Violation 4 Alleged a Class I Violation. 

 The Administrative Compliance and Penalty Orders asserted a violation of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(b) for a host of sections in the general permit.  At 

the time DEQ issued the Administrative Compliance and Penalty Orders it was a 

Class I violation to “violate a permit compliance plan or schedule.”  ARM 

17.30.2001(1)(d) (Repealed March 19, 2016).  All of the alleged violations of the 

permit are violations of a permit compliance plan or schedule.  This is an alleged 

violation of a Class I violation.  As a result, ARM 17.30.2003(7) did not impose any 

additional notice requirements before issuing the Administrative Compliance and 

Penalty Orders. 
 
II. COPPER RIDGE AND REFLECTIONS ARE OWNERS OR 

OPERATORS.  
 

 “Any person who discharges or proposes to discharge storm water from a 

point source must obtain coverage under an MPDES general permit or another 

MPDES permit for discharges…associated with construction activity.”  ARM 

17.30.1105(1)(a).  “A person who discharges or proposes to discharge storm water 

associated with construction activity shall submit to the department a notice of 

intent (NOI) as provided in this rule.”  ARM 17.30.1115(1).  The NOI must be 

signed by either the owner or operator, or both.  ARM 17.30.1115(1)(a).  The 

phrase, “storm water discharge associated with construction activity” is defined as: 
 
 
 
 
a discharge of storm water from construction activities including 
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clearing, grading, and excavation that result in the disturbance of 
equal to or greater than one acre of total land area.  For purposes of 
these rules, construction activities include clearing, grading, 
excavation, stockpiling earth materials, and other placement or 
removal of earth material performed during construction projects.  
Construction activity includes the disturbance of less than one acre 
of total land area that is a part of a larger common plan of 
development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb 
one acre or more. 

 

ARM 17.30.1102(28).  “Owner or operator,” is defined as “a person who owns, 

leases, operates, controls or supervises a point source.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

103(26).  The parties disagree regarding whether Copper Ridge or Reflections is an 

owner or operator.  

 Reflections and Copper Ridge propose too narrow a definition of Owner and 

operator, generally limiting their arguments to ownership, lease and operations.  

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(26) also defines a owner or operator as someone who 

“controls or supervises a point source.”  Furthermore, Copper Ridge and Reflections 

focus too heavily on construction of homes, rather than the more expansive statutory 

definition of “storm water discharge associated with construction activity.” 

 Reflections and Copper Ridge were the original owners and developers of all 

land in their respective subdivisions.  Construction activities, including clearing, 

grading, excavation, stockpiling earth materials, and other placement or removal of 

earth material performed during construction projects, resulted in disturbance equal 

to or greater than one acre of total land area at the respective subdivisions.  These 

construction activities were initiated in 2006, in the respective subdivisions.  These 

construction activities were undertaken with the eventual goal of the sale of 

individual lots for residential home construction. 

 Copper Ridge and Reflections admit that they entered into at least one 

contract that required “all excess material from pipe and bedding displacement shall 

be left on site.”  Therefore, not only did Copper Ridge and Reflections have 

supervision and control over the actions of third parties, they acted on their ability to 
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instruct others how to engage in stockpiling of materials, an act expressly contained 

in the definition of “construction activities.”  This put Copper Ridge and Reflections 

in a position of either control or supervision with regard to the terms of sale of any 

individual lot for construction of residential homes.  Any argument to the contrary 

ignores the common sense and practical reality of development of a residential 

subdivision.  The mere fact that neither Copper Ridge nor Reflections exercised 

supervision or control over the contractual terms of the sale of land, does not change 

the fact that they had the power to supervise or control land with regard to storm 

water discharges.  In addition, on September 9, 2013, DEQ observed “clearing, 

grading, excavation, soil stockpiles, concrete washout areas, and tracking on 

streets.” 

 Moreover, Reflections and Copper Ridge conceded their owner or operator 

status when they filed their December 23, 2013, SWPPs and NOIs, respectively.  

Both Reflections and Copper Ridge expressly acknowledged they were the owner or 

operator for construction activities.  The affidavit produced by Landy Leep does not 

create a material dispute of fact.  Leep attempts to characterize the intent behind his 

signature on the SWPPPs and the NOIs.  However, the documents themselves are 

undisputed for the purposes of summary judgment and the admissions made by 

Copper Ridge and Reflections that they were the owners or operators.  Based on the 

foregoing, Reflections and Copper Ridge were owners or operators with regard to 

construction activities at their respective subdivisions. 

III. DEQ HAS ESTABLISHED COPPER RIDGE AND REFLECTIONS 
DISCHARGED STORM WATER TO STATE WATERS WITHOUT A 
PERMIT. 

 It is “unlawful to carry on any of the following activities without a current 

permit from the department…discharge sewage, industrial wastes or other wastes 

into any state waters.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  DEQ has alleged 

Copper Ridge and Reflections violated this statute by “discharging storm water 
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associated with construction activities to state water without a permit” from at least 

2006 to December 23, 2013.  The parties dispute whether storm water detention 

ponds are treated as State waters and whether overspills from the detention ponds, to 

state waters, constitutes a discharge into state waters. 

 This is all beside the point.  DEQ has provided an affidavit of Dan Freeland 

who conducted the September 9, 2013 CEIs at Reflections and Copper Ridge.  

Freeland stated that he “documented and observed discharges of storm water from 

Reflections at Copper Ridge and from Copper Ridge subdivisions through direct 

overland flow and through swales, storm drains and drainage ditches into Cove 

Ditch, which is state water.”  (emphasis added).  Freeland’s personal observations 

have not been disputed on summary judgment. 

 Regardless the Parties’ disputes over state waters and the effect of the 

overfilling of the detention ponds, there is no dispute that Freeland documented and 

observed discharges of storm water that traveled over land, into Cove Ditch, a state 

water.  As a result, DEQ has established Reflections and Copper Ridge discharged 

storm water into state waters, without a permit, a violation of Mont. Code Ann.  

§ 75-5-605(2)(c).  DEQ is entitled to summary judgment on its second alleged 

violation. 
 
IV. THERE IS A DISPUTE OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING THE 

ALLEGED VIOLATION OF MONT. CODE ANN. § 75-5-605(1)(a). 

 “It is unlawful to…cause pollution, as defined in 75-5-103, of any state 

waters or to place or cause to be placed any wastes where they will cause pollution 

of any state waters…”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(a).  DEQ alleged both 

Reflections and Copper Ridge violated this statute, from at least May 2012, to at 

least October 21, 2014, by placing waste where it will cause pollution and by 

contributing sediments and other pollutants that will increase the concentration of 

sediment, oils, settable solids and other debris above levels that are naturally 
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occurring in state surface waters.  Copper Ridge and Reflections argue that there is 

no evidence that Copper Ridge or Reflections placed waste within the subdivisions 

and DEQ lacks an expert to testify that the waste could cause pollution. 

 There is sufficient evidence that Reflections and Copper Ridge placed or 

caused to be placed wastes.  On September 9, 2013, Dan Freeland observed 

stockpiling of materials, concrete washout, sediment waste tracked onto impervious 

surfaces, sediment and debris on the bank of Cove Ditch, accumulated sediment on 

the sidewalk and grass area of the city park areas, and sediments on the streets and 

storm drains throughout Reflections and Copper Ridge.  All of this meets the 

definition of “other wastes” contained in Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(24). 

 In addition, DEQ does not necessarily require expert testimony to establish 

the placement of wastes could cause pollution.  In pertinent part, “pollution” is 

defined as: 
 
(i)  contamination or other alteration of the physical, chemical, or 
biological properties of state waters that exceeds that permitted by 
Montana water quality standards, including but not limited to 
standards relating to change in temperature, taste, color, turbidity, or 
odor; or 
(ii)  the discharge, seepage, drainage, infiltration, or flow of liquid, 
gaseous, solid, radioactive, or other substance into state water that 
will or is likely to create a nuisance or render the waters harmful, 
detrimental, or injurious to public health, recreation, safety, or 
welfare, to livestock, or to wild animals, birds, fish, or other wildlife. 
 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(30). 

 Expert testimony is often required when the subject matter is outside of the 

common experience of the trier of fact and the expert testimony will assist the trier 

of fact in determining the issue or understanding the evidence.  Dubiel v. Mont. 

DOT, 2012 MT 35, 364 Mont. 175, 272 P.3d 66.  However, in a MAPA contested 

case proceeding, “[n]otice may be taken of judicially cognizable facts.  In addition, 

notice may be taken of generally recognized technical or scientific facts within the 

agency’s specialized knowledge.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(6).  In addition, the 
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“agency’s experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge may be 

utilized in the evaluation of evidence.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(7). 

 Based on the definition of “pollution” and Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(6) 

and (7), there is no per se requirement that DEQ identify an expert.  DEQ’s exhibits 

and the testimony of its personnel, with their specialized knowledge, appears to be 

sufficient to provide evidence of alleged pollution, as defined by statute.  DEQ is 

not required to present expert testimony in order to establish Reflections or Copper 

Ridge placed, or caused to be placed, waste in a manner that could cause pollution 

of state waters. 

 That said, DEQ has not met its burden to establish it is entitled to judgment 

as a matter of law.  The first prong of “pollution” requires DEQ to establish some 

form of alteration of state waters “ that exceeds that permitted by Montana water 

quality standards.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(30)(i).  DEQ has not provided any 

evidence of permitted water quality standards at this time.  As a result, DEQ has not 

established pollution under the first prong of the definition. 

 The second prong of “pollution” requires DEQ to establish that a substance 

has entered state water that will either create a nuisance or “render the waters 

harmful, detrimental, or injurious to public health, recreation, safety, or welfare, to 

livestock, or to wild animals, birds, fish, or other wildlife.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-

5-103(30)(ii).  While DEQ has established the placement of waste, DEQ has not 

identified the facts to establish or explain how this waste will create a nuisance or 

otherwise cause the harm required in the definition of “pollution.”  As a result, DEQ 

is not entitled to summary judgment on this alleged violation. 
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V. DEQ IS ENTITLED TO PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS 

CLAIM THAT COPPER RIDGE AND REFLECTIONS VIOLATED 
THE CONDITIONS OF THE GENERAL PERMIT. 

 DEQ’s fourth alleged violation is that Reflections and Copper Ridge violated 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(b), for violating provisions contained within the 

General Permit.  As a threshold matter, Reflections and Copper Ridge cannot rely 

on their defense that they are not an owner or operator.  Reflections and Copper 

Ridge provided their respective SWPPPs and NOIs in December of 2013.  

Resolution of this alleged violation is separate and distinct from the alleged 

violations in the absence of a permit.  Although Reflections and Copper Ridge 

constituted owners or operators, that legal determination is not necessary for the 

resolution of this fourth alleged violation.   

 As of December 17, 2013, Reflections and Copper Ridge agreed to follow 

the terms and conditions of the General Permit.  It is undisputed they entered the 

NOIs and SWPPPs and undertook the obligations contained in the general permit.  

Therefore, even if one accepted Reflections and Copper Ridge’s argument as true – 

that they are not owners or operators – this alleged violation could still proceed 

because they agreed to abide by the provisions of the general permit.  Their alleged 

violations of any specific provisions are divorced from their status as an owner or 

operator. 

 DEQ provided undisputed testimony that on October 21, 2014, Dan Freeland 

and Chris Romankiewicz conducted a CEI as Reflections and Copper Ridge.  

Freeland and Romankiewicz observed:  
 

(1) the SWPPP administrator failed to conduct site inspection 
every seven days in accordance with the inspection schedule 
in the SWPPP, a violation of Section 2.3 of the general 
permit. 

(2) The SWPPP had not been developed in accordance with good 
engineering practices and had not been updated to reflect 
current onsite conditions, a violation of Sections 3.1.1 and 
3.1.3 of the general permit. 
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(3) The SWPPP administrator had failed to maintain records at 

the site where they could be made available to the DEQ  
Inspectors upon request, a violation of Section 2.5 of the 
general permit. 

(4) Best management practices were not implemented to control 
and mitigate discharges of sediment and other pollutants from 
construction related activities, violations of Sections 2.1.1 and 
2.1.4 of the general permit. 

 

Freeland and Romankiewicz’s observations were memorialized in (1) a December 9, 

2014 letter to Reflections and Copper Ridge, (2) an MPDES Compliance Inspection 

report for each subdivision, and (3) a Storm Water Construction Inspection Report 

for each subdivision.  

 Copper Ridge and Reflections have not disputed Freeland and 

Romankiewicz’s observations and factual allegations.  DEQ has met its burden to 

establish violations of provisions of the General Permit, a violation of Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(b).  DEQ is entitled to partial summary judgment on the fourth 

alleged violation in the Administrative Compliance and Penalty Order. 

CONCLUSION 

 Both parties’ cross Motions for Summary Judgment are granted in part and 

denied in part:   
 

(1) Copper Ridge and Reflections’ Motions are GRANTED with regard 
to its argument that DEQ cannot seek administrative penalties for a 
violation of ARM 17.30.1105.   

(2) Copper Ridge and Reflections’ Motions for summary judgment are 
DENIED in all other aspects. 

(3) DEQ’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is GRANTED with 
regard to the violations of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c), 
discharge of waste into state waters and 75-5-605(1)(b), violation of 
provisions set forth in a permit.   

(4) DEQ’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is DENIED with regard 
to alleged violation of ARM 17.30.1105. 
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(5) DEQ’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is DENIED with regard 

to alleged violation of 75-5-605(1)(a). 
  

 DATED this 1st day of August, 2017. 
 

/s/ Andres Haladay    
ANDRES HALADAY 
Hearing Examiner 
Agency Legal Services Bureau 
1712 Ninth Avenue 
P.O. Box 201440 
Helena, MT 59620-1440 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I caused a true and accurate copy of the foregoing Order 

on Summary Judgment to be mailed to: 
 

Ms. Joyce Wittenberg 
Secretary, Board of Environmental Review 
Department of Environmental Quality 
1520 East Sixth Avenue 
P.O. Box 200901 
Helena, MT 59620-0901 
jwittenberg@mt.gov 
 
Ms. Kirsten Bowers 
Legal Counsel 
Department of Environmental Quality 
P.O. Box 200901 
Helena, MT 59620-0901 
kbowers@mt.gov 
 
Mr. John Arrigo, Administrator 
Enforcement Division 
Department of Environmental Quality 
P.O. Box 200901 
Helena, MT 59620-0901 
jarrigo@mt.gov 
 
Mr. William W. Mercer 
Mr. Brian Murphy 
Holland & Hart LLP 
401 N. 31st Street, Suite 1500 
P.O. Box 639 
Billings, MT 59103-0639 
wmercer@hollandhart.com 

    bmmurphy@hollandhart.com 
 
 
DATED: August 1, 2017    /s/ Andres Haladay    
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 

  

 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

VIOLATIONS OF THE WATER QUALITY 

ACT BY REFLECTIONS AT COPPER 

RIDGE, LLC AT REFLECTIONS AT 

COPPER RIDGE SUBDIVISION, 

BILLINGS, YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, 

MONTANA. (MTR105376) [FID 2288, 

DOCKET NO. WQ-15-07] 

 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

VIOLATIONS OF THE WATER QUALITY 

ACT BY COPPER RIDGE, 

DEVELOPMENT CORPORTATION AT 

COPPER RIDGE SUBDIVISION, 

BILLINGS, YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, 

MONTANA. (MTR105377) [FID 2289, 

DOCKET NO. WQ-15-08] 

CASE NO. BER 2015-01 

WQ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. BER 2015-02 

WQ 

 

 _________________________________________________________________  

HEARING EXAMINER’S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT & 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW TO THE BER 

  

 

On April 17, 2015, Copper Ridge Development Corporation and Reflections 

at Copper Ridge, LLC (CR/REF) filed a Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing 

based on the Administrative Compliance and Penalty Orders (AOs) issued by 

Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ).  A three-day hearing was held 

February 26-28, 2018.  This matter is fully briefed and ready for disposition. 
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INTRODUCTION 

This case has been frustrating for many reasons.  First, the factual record 

provided by both parties—even after summary judgment briefing and a three-day 

hearing—often left the undersigned struggling to answer questions vital to the 

case.  Second, neither party came to this proceeding with clean enough hands to 

justify either awarding or avoiding a penalty.  DEQ’s performance—including its 

inspections, record-keeping, notices, communication, enforcement decisions, 

follow up, and the evidence, testimony, and explanations provided at the hearing—

were difficult to understand and in some instances inadequate.  CR/REF, however, 

were not much better, often seeming to at least passively use DEQ’s inaction as an 

excuse to shirk their responsibility and care for the environment, without 

proactively ensuring they had the requisite coverage (or clearance) from DEQ for 

their operations.  For these reasons, the undersigned has struggled to find any 

satisfactory resolution to this case that might deter such conduct in the future by 

both sides.  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Copper Ridge, and Reflections at Copper Ridge, are two subdivisions 

located in the City of Billings, Yellowstone County, Montana (collectively, Copper 

Ridge Subdivisions or CR/REF).  Joint Stipulated Facts (JSF) ¶ 1. 
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2. The City of Billings is the owner and operator of a municipal separate 

storm sewer system (MS4).  The City is authorized  to discharge storm water to 

state waters under the Montana Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

("MPDES") General Permit for Storm Water Discharge Associated with Small 

Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (General Permit No. MTR040000).  The 

City MS4 conveys storm water to state surface water through  publicly owned 

storm water conveyance and drainage systems.  The City MS4 ultimately 

discharges storm water to the Yellowstone River, a state water.  JSF ¶ 2. 

3. The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ or Department) 

issues the MPDES General Permit for Storm Water Discharges Associated with 

Construction Activity (General Permit No. MTR100000).  Unless administratively 

extended, General Permit No. MTR 100000 is issued for five-year periods.  

Relevant to this matter, General Permit No. MTR100000 was effective January 1, 

2013, through December 31, 2017.  JSF ¶ 3. 

4. On March 26, 2013, the City contacted DEQ to request assistance in 

addressing noncompliance with storm water requirements at Copper Ridge.  DEQ 

informed the City that construction activities at Copper Ridge were not covered by 

General Permit No. MTR100000.  JSF ¶ 4. 

5. The construction activities permitted under previous MPDES permit 

authorizations at CR/REF included construction of water, sanitary sewer, and 
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storm drainage utilities, and street and sidewalk improvements and the Storm 

Water Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP) associated with these permits did not 

included controls for construction activity on residential lots.  Ex. A at 3; Ex. B at 

3; Ex. C at 4; Hearing Transcript (Tr.) Vol. II (February 27, 2018), 62:4, 102:8 – 

21; DEQ Proposed Findings of Fact (DEQ) ¶ 12; CR/REF Response to DEQ’s 

Finding of Fact (CR Resp.) ¶ 1. 

6. DEQ terminated the previous permit for construction activity in the 

Copper Ridge Subdivisions (MTR104590) in December 2012 without first 

notifying Copper Ridge.  JSF ¶ 5. 

7. Ground disturbance at the Copper Ridge Subdivisions each involve 

greater than one acre including all areas that are part of a "larger common plan of 

development or sale," as that phrase is used in General Permit No. MTR100000 

and in ARM 17.30.1102(28).  JSF ¶ 8. 

8. On September 7, 2013, there was a significant storm event in and 

around Billings, MT.  Ex. 14.   

9. The following day, the Billings Gazette published a story about the 

effects of the storm that included some discussion of the conditions in the Copper 

Ridge Subdivisions during and after the storm.  Ex. 14; Tr. Vol. I (February 26, 

2018) 50:25-53:03.  
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10. Based on the Gazette’s report, DEQ compliance inspector Dan 

Freeland decided to visit CR/REF and conduct an inspection.  Tr. Vol. I 50:25-

53:03. 

11. Two days after the storm event Freeland conducted an inspection of 

the Copper Ridge Subdivisions.  JSF ¶ 6. 

12. During the September 9, 2013 inspection, DEQ observed and 

documented sediment tacking on the streets and concrete waste washed on to the 

ground.  Tr. Vol. I, 54:21-56:4, 73:10-19, 74:1-6, 74:14-20, 74:24-75:8, 173:16-20; 

Ex. 15; CR/REF Proposed Findings of Fact (CR) ¶ 16; DEQ ¶ 16. 

13. DEQ also observed and documented (with photographs provided a the 

hearing) stockpiled waste soil and areas of ground disturbance uncontrolled by 

Best Management Practices (BMPs) to mitigate contact with storm water; evidence 

that sediment and construction debris had been washed with storm water from the 

subdivisions toward Cove Ditch; evidence that concrete waste had been washed on 

to the ground with no containment; sediment in the storm drains, in the streets and 

on the sidewalks as a result of uncontrolled storm water discharges.  Ex. 2 at DEQ 

000039 – 000040, DEQ 000045 (Photos 2 and 3), DEQ 000046 (Photos 4, 5, and 

6), DEQ 000047 (Photo 9), DEQ 000048 (Photos 10, 11, and 12); DEQ 000050 

(Photos 16, 17, and 18); Tr. Vol. I, 71:2 – 77:18; DEQ ¶ 19; CR Resp. ¶ 1. 
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14. On September 23, 2013, DEQ sent CR, through Gary Oakland, a 

letter.  JSF ¶ 7; Ex. 2.  

15. The letter stated, “The Montana Department of Environmental Quality 

(DEQ) has determined Copper Ridge Development Corporation is in violation of 

the Montana Water Quality Act (WQA) at the Copper Ridge Subdivision and 

Reflections at Copper Ridge Subdivision located in Billings, Montana and is 

notifying Copper Ridge Development Corporation of a formal enforcement 

action.”  Tr. Vol. I, 65:24–66:8; Ex. 2 at DEQ 000038 – DEQ 000040; DEQ ¶ 18; 

CR Resp ¶ 1. 

16. In a September 27, 2013 letter, CR/REF provided clarification to DEQ 

regarding ownership information and sought to distinguish the violations based on 

the separate subdivisions, CR and REF.  Ex. 12; Tr. Vol. I, 79:21-80:15, 83:8-

83:16; CR ¶ 2; DEQ ¶¶ 20, 22. 

17. In an October 8, 2013 letter responding to CR/REF’s September 27, 

2013 correspondence, Mr. Freeland explained that, based on his September 9, 2013 

inspection, DEQ determined that the Copper Ridge Subdivisions were part of a 

greater common plan of development and one violation letter was adequate to 

address the violations at both subdivisions.  Tr. Vol. I, 80:19-81:24; Ex. O; DEQ 

¶ 21; CR Resp. ¶ 1.   
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18. CR/REF responded with letter on October 29, 2013 regarding 

ownership and again sought to distinguish the violations based on the separate 

subdivisions.  Ex. 15; CR ¶ 2; DEQ ¶¶ 20, 22. 

19. On November 8, 2013, DEQ issued another letter, which stated that 

violations at the CR were distinguishable from violations at REF.  JSF ¶ 9 

20. Within a timeframe acceptable to DEQ, Copper Ridge and Reflections 

at Copper Ridge each took the corrective action identified in the September 23, 

2013 and November 8, 2013 letters from DEQ.  JSF ¶ 10 

21. On December 23, 2013, DEQ received Notice of Intent and SWPPPs 

from CR/REF (collectively, NOI package).  DEQ Exs. 3-6; JSF ¶ 8; Tr. Vol. II, 

59:9-21, 60:11-18. 

22. On January 8, 2014, DEQ sent confirmation letters to REF issuing 

Permit No. MTR105376 authorizing coverage under General Permit No. 

MTR100000 for storm water discharges associated with construction activity at 

REF, and to CR issuing Permit No. MTR105377 authorizing coverage under 

General Permit No. MTR100000 for storm water discharges associated with 

construction activity at CR.  JSF ¶ 11.  

23. Permit No. MTR105376 and Permit No. MTR105377 were effective 

from the date DEQ received the NOI Package on December 23, 2013. Ex. 3; Ex. 4; 

Tr. Vol. I 95:23-96:10.  

087



PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

PAGE 9 

24. On March 7, 2014, Inspector Freeland sent an email to inspection and 

enforcement employees of DEQ stating, “I did not get to a lot of the new 

construction at [CR].  But I did document and photograph a few lots under 

construction and in one case there was a berm around the site and sand bags.  There 

was also a house under construction which had straw bales on the perimeter.  

Appears to be an effort to control runoff from the individual lots I observed.”  Ex. V. 

25. On October 21, 2014, DEQ conducted a scheduled inspection of 

CR/REF.  JSF ¶ 12; Tr. Vol. I, 100:11-100:20; Ex. 7 at DEQ 000113; Tr. Vol. I, 

105:24-106:3; Ex. 8 at DEQ 000125.  

26. On December 9, 2014, DEQ sent CR/REF letters that notified 

CR/REF of the alleged MPDES Permit violations observed and documented by 

DEQ Inspectors during the October 21, 2014 inspection and requested corrective 

action to address the violations.  JSF ¶¶ 13, 14; Ex. 7; Ex. 8.  

27. In December 2014, Copper Ridge and Reflections at Copper Ridge 

requested an extension from DEQ in order to respond to DEQ’s December 9, 2014 

letter of violation and inspection report; DEQ granted the extension by letter dated 

December 23, 2014.  Ex. X.  

28. On January 8, 2015, the Copper Ridge Subdivisions submitted a letter 

with corrective action and updates to their SWPPP to DEQ.  Ex. Y.  
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29. Within a timeframe acceptable to DEQ, CR/REF each took the 

corrective action identified in the December 9, 2014 letters from DEQ and 

submitted an updated SWPPP to DEQ.  JSF ¶15. 

30. DEQ acknowledged the responses by CR/REF to the violations at the 

subdivisions noted during the October 21, 2014 inspection and identified in the 

December 9, 2014 letters.  Tr. Vol. I, 112:7-120:8; Ex. 18; Ex.19; DEQ ¶ 30; CR 

Resp. ¶ 1. 

31. CR/REF did not propose “corrective action plans” to address 

violations of the Montana Water Quality Act.  Tr. Vol. III (February 28, 2018), 

119:11; DEQ ¶ 31, CR Resp. ¶ 1. 

32. On February 6, 2015, DEQ sent CR an acknowledgment letter 

indicating receipt of CR’s response letter of January 8, 2015.  DEQ indicated that 

there was further compliance assistance needed and outlined three specific areas 

for improvement.  Ex. 18; Tr. Vol. I, 65:24 – 66; Ex. 2 at DEQ 000038 – DEQ 

000040. 

33. On February 9, 2015, DEQ sent REF an acknowledgment letter 

indicating receipt of REF’s response letter dated January 8, 2015.  DEQ indicated 

that there was further compliance assistance needed, mainly paperwork errors to be 

corrected.  Ex. 19. 
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34. DEQ seeks penalties for the violations noted in the December 9, 2014 

letter.  Ex. 9; Ex. 10; CR ¶ 11; DEQ ¶ 32.  

35. DEQ issued AOs on March 27, 2015, identifying the following 

alleged violations of the Montana Water Quality Act at CR/REF: 

(1) Violation of Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 

17.30.1105 by conducting construction activities prior to 

submitting an NOI at Reflections at Copper Ridge and Copper 

Ridge subdivisions; 

 

(2) Violation of § 75-5-605(2)(c), MCA by discharging storm water 

associated with construction activity without a discharge permit; 

 

(3) Violation of § 75-5-605(1)(a), MCA, ARM l 7.30.624(2Xf), and 

ARM l 7.30.629(2)(f) by placing waste where it will cause 

pollution; and 

 

(4) Violation of § 75-5-605(1)(b), MCA by violating terms and 

conditions of General Permit No. MTR 100000. 

 

JSF ¶ 16; AO.  

36. Each of the AOs assesses a penalty and has a penalty calculation 

worksheet attached.  Tr. Vol. I, 215:19 – 216:5; Ex. 9 at DEQ 000154 – 000155, 

DEQ 000157; Ex. 10 at DEQ 000184 – 000185, DEQ 000187; DEQ ¶ 34; CR Resp. 

¶ 1. 

37. At the hearing, DEQ agreed that the number of days of violation for 

Violation 2 could be adjusted down to 19 days based on the precipitation events 

noted in the most current National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 
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(NOAA) weather service data.  Ex. 20; Tr. Vol. III, 8:8-21, 17:6-10, 33:21-35:2; 

CR ¶ 32; DEQ ¶ 55. 

38. The NOAA data shows eight days between September 23, 2013 and 

December 23, 2013 when there were precipitation events greater than 0.25 inches.  

Ex. 20. 

DISCUSSION 

A. Summary Judgment Findings (including Owner/Operator) 

The prior hearing examiner made a number of findings based on the briefing 

and evidence presented at summary judgment.  For brevity’s sake, those findings 

and conclusions, with the underlying reasoning, are not reproduced in their entirety 

here; instead, the Order on Summary Judgment (Aug. 1, 2017) is attached to this 

decision and incorporated herein by reference.  The main legal conclusions were as 

follows:   

i. CR/REF were “owners or operators” for the purpose of obtaining 

permit coverage for the discharge of storm water at their 

respective developments.  (Section II.)  

 

ii. (Violation 1) DEQ did not provide adequate notice regarding a 

violation of ARM 17.30.1105 – and therefore no violation of that 

ARM can be shown and DEQ cannot seek administrative 

penalties based on such a violation.  (Section I(D).) 

 

iii. (Violation 2) DEQ has established that CR/REF Discharged 

storm water to state waters without a permit in violation of Mont. 

Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  (Section III.)  
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iv. (Violation 4) DEQ has established that CR/REF violated 

provisions contained within its general permit in violation of 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(b).  (Section V.)  

 

Or. S.J.  Despite a motion to reconsider, the undersigned did not disturb the 

previous hearing examiner’s rulings.  Order on Motions in Limine, at 6-8 (Feb. 22, 

2018).   

Based on those prior orders, the remaining issues to be decided by the 

undersigned at the hearing were: 

i. The burden and standard of proof.  

 

ii. (Violation 2) The appropriate assessment of penalties, pursuant 

to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 75-5-1001, and associated 

administrative rules. 

 

iii. (Violation 3) An issue of fact regarding whether CR/REF placed 

any wastes where they will cause pollution of any state waters in 

violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(a).  If such a 

violation occurred, the appropriate assessment of penalties, 

pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 75-5-1001, and 

associated administrative rules.  (See Or. S.J., Section IV.) 

 

iv. (Violation 4) The appropriate assessment of penalties, pursuant 

to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 75-5-1001, and associated 

administrative rules. 

 

Or. S.J., at 11-14.   

The findings and conclusions contained herein necessarily depend upon the 

findings and conclusions of the prior hearing examiner set out in that order.   
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B. Burden and Standard of Proof 

At the hearing, there was some disagreement among the parties and the 

undersigned about the burden and standard of proof applicable to this proceeding 

and the parties were accordingly requested to brief the issue as part of their post-

hearing filings.  The parties have agreed that the applicable standard of proof is the 

preponderance standard.  DEQ ¶ 68; CR ¶ 7  The parties disagree, however, about 

who has the burden of proof, each pointing to the other.  For the reasons set forth 

below, the undersigned concludes that CR/REF have the burden of proof.  

CR and REF have brought (through the Notice of Appeal (NOA)) this 

“appeal” of DEQ’s AO, “pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(4).”  NOA at 1.  

CR and REF are therefore, by their own admission, analogous to an appellant and 

DEQ the appellee.  Using as a guide the burden analysis set forth in MEIC v. DEQ, 

2005 MT 96,1 in this case CR/REF are in the same position as MEIC was in.  Here, 

“[t]he claim [CR/REF] assert[s] before the Board [is] that the Department's 

decision … violated Montana law.”  Id. at ¶16.  Therefore, CR/REF, like MEIC, 

                                           
1  BER’s statutory authority varies widely between different subject matter areas.  The 

MEIC decision concerned an air quality permitting case brought pursuant to Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-2-211, and the holding of that case is not directly precedential to, for example, 

a Water Quality Act enforcement action brought pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

611(4).  In other words, the MEIC decision does not mean that DEQ will never bear the 

burden of proof in a case before the BER.  The position of the parties and BER must be 

determined from the specific statutory authority at issue in each case.   
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are “the party asserting the claim at issue[,]” and have “challenged the 

Department's decision … by requesting a contested case hearing before the Board.”  

Id. at ¶15.  DEQ is the same position here as it was in MEIC of responding to the 

challenge; so too, is BER in the same position of deciding the merits of the 

challenge.  Id. at ¶¶ 6-8, 10-16.  

In the present case, Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(4) states that if DEQ “does 

not require an alleged violator to appear before [BER] for a public hearing, the 

alleged violator may request the board to conduct the hearing … within a 

reasonable time” after a timely request.  The statute requires that, after the hearing, 

BER “shall make findings and conclusions that explain its decision” (id., at (6)(a)), 

and “explain how it determined the amount of the administrative penalty,” if any 

(id., at (6)(d)).  The statute also requires that “[i]f the board determines that a 

violation has not occurred, it shall declare the department's notice void.”  Id., at 

(6)(e).   

DEQ’s AO stated that “this Order becomes effective upon signature of the 

Department.”  AO at ¶108.  Therefore, the AO in this case is effective from its 

issuance unless CR/REF provides BER with a reason to “declare [it] void.”  

Although the statute is silent on the burden and standard of proof, its plain meaning 

indicates that the BER is reviewing an action taken by DEQ (similar to an 

appellee) and challenged by CR/REF (similar to an appellant).  Most importantly 
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to the MEIC analysis, absent CR/REF’s appeal or challenge, and were CR/REF to 

present no evidence at the hearing, BER would have no reason to “declare the 

department’s notice void” and DEQ’s AO would remain final.   

BER’s authority and the position of the parties in this instance is therefore 

sufficiently similar to reach the same conclusion as in the MEIC case:  “[i]f no 

challenge had been made” to DEQ’s AO (i.e., by CR/REF’s NOA) or if “no 

evidence were presented at the contested case hearing establishing that [DEQ’s 

action] violated the law, the Board would have no basis on which to determine the 

Department's decision was legally invalid.”  MEIC, at ¶16.  CR/REF is “the party 

asserting a claim for relief” before BER and, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 26-

1-401 and -402, “bears the burden of producing evidence in support of that claim.”  

Id. at ¶14.  Based on the reasoning set out in MEIC, therefore, “as the party 

asserting the claim at issue, [CR/REF] ha[s] the burden of presenting the evidence 

necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Department's 

decision violated the law.”  Id. at ¶16.   

CR/REF argue that this case is distinguishable from MEIC because of 

language contained in subsection (3) of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611, which states: 

In a notice and order given under subsection (1), the department may 

require the alleged violator to appear before the board for a public 

hearing and to answer the charges.  The hearing must be held no sooner 

than 15 days after service of the notice and order, except that the board 

may set an earlier date for hearing if it is requested to do so by the 

095



PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

PAGE 17 

alleged violator.  The board may set a later date for hearing at the 

request of the alleged violator if the alleged violator shows good cause 

for delay.  

 

CR/REF argue that “‘[T]he hearing’ provided in subsection 4 refers to the same 

hearing in subsection 3 – the hearing where the alleged violator will answer the 

charges” and “[a]n alleged violator appearing before this Board to ‘answer the 

charges’ cannot bear the burden of proof because he will not know what to answer 

until the Department presents the charges.”  CR ¶¶ 1-2.   

This argument is legally and factually unpersuasive for a number of reasons.  

First, by its own admission (in the NOA), CR/REF have requested this hearing 

pursuant to subsection (4) and not subsection (3) of the statute.  Second, by its 

plain language subsection (3) contemplates a separate hearing from that described 

in subsection (4), and a hearing that is different in kind—namely an extremely 

expedited one.  CR/REF did not request such a hearing in their NOA, and instead 

specifically requested a hearing “within a reasonable time after completion of 

discovery and resolution of any pre-hearing motion” (NOA at 1), this is not the 

hearing (or type of expedited hearing) contemplated by subsection (3).2  Finally, 

                                           
2  It also appears that subsection (3) is referring a notice letter “given under subsection 

(1)” rather than to an AO (issued under subsection (2)) and there is no dispute that in this 

case the department issued an AO pursuant to subsection (2).  As there was no argument 

on this point, however, and subsection (3) also refers to a “notice and order,” perhaps 

contemplating subsection (1) and (2), the undersigned has not based the conclusion on 

this point.   
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even if “the hearing” referred to in subsection (4) were the same as a hearing 

conducted pursuant to subsection (3), nothing in the statute’s requirement that 

CR/REF “answer the charges” changes the position of the parties or the analysis of 

the burden based on the MEIC case, as set forth above.   

Contrary to CR/REF’s assertion, the AO contains “the charges” presented by 

the department and to which CR/REF must respond.  The parties agree that the AO 

in this case was issued and was in effect on the date it was signed.  Therefore, 

CR/REF received notice of “the charges” with the AO and, absent any “answer” on 

CR/REF’s part at the hearing, those “charges” would remain in effect.  The 

statutory requirement (were it applicable) that CR/REF “answer the charges” 

therefore does not shift the burden to DEQ for the purpose of this hearing and 

CR/REF’s argument to the contrary is unconvincing.  

For all these reasons, CR/REF bear the burden of establishing by a 

preponderance of the evidence that “a violation has not occurred” and that BER 

must “declare the department's notice void” (Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(6)(e)) or 

“the facts essential to a determination that the Department's decision violated the 

law” (MEIC at ¶16). 

C. Notice  

CR/REF have argued that DEQ cannot assess administrative penalties on 

any of the alleged violations because DEQ did not provide CR/REF adequate 
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notice before issuing the AOs, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 75-5-

617 and ARM 17.30.2003 (repealed 2016).  These laws (each and together) require 

DEQ to issue notice letters that meet certain requirements prior to issuing AOs, 

unless the violations alleged by the AO meet certain thresholds of seriousness.3  

Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611(2), -617(2); ARM 17.30.2003(7).  If the AO’s 

contain sufficiently serious allegations, however, then DEQ may proceed directly 

to an AO without sending a notice letter.  Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611(1)(e), -

617(2); ARM 17.30.2003(7).  

The prior hearing examiner found that “[i]t is undisputed DEQ did not 

provide a written notice letter to Reflections or Copper Ridge prior to issuing the 

Administrative Order and Notice of Violation.”  Or. S.J., at 8:10-12.  For this 

reason, Violation 1 was dismissed, but Violations 2, 3, and 4 were allowed to 

remain because the three remaining allegations are serious enough to allow DEQ to 

proceed directly to an AO, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(2)(a)(ii).  Id.  

In prehearing briefing and at the hearing, CR/REF made a slightly nuanced 

argument along these same lines, based on ARM 17.30.2003(5) (repealed 2016).  

ARM 17.30.2003(5) (repealed 2016) states that  

                                           
3
  E.g., violations of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605, violations that present “imminent 

threat to human health, safety, or welfare or to the environment” or violations of 

“Class I” or “major extent and gravity”. 
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the department may not assess a penalty for a violation cited in the 

notice letter if the violator submits to the department in writing within 

the time specified in the notice letter: (a) a response signed by the 

violator certifying that its activity was, or is now, in compliance with 

all requirements cited in the notice letter; or [a corrective action plan].  

 

CR/REF argued that because they (by DEQ’s own admission, JSF ¶¶ 10, 15) 

adequately responded to all of DEQ’s letters, within the timeframe allowed by 

DEQ, that subsection (5) prevented the assessment of any of the penalties 

contained in the AO.  The record was not clear whether this argument was squarely 

before the previous hearing examiner and so the undersigned allowed limited 

argument and evidence on it at the hearing.  See Or. MIL, at [cite].  

It is true that CR/REF responded to all of DEQ’s letters within DEQ’s 

specified timeframe, and that by DEQ’s own admission the responses were 

adequate.  JSF, ¶¶ 10, 15.  Specifically, CR/REF ultimately responded to DEQ’s 

December 9, 2014 (and September 23, 2013, and November 8, 2013), letters on 

January 8, 2015 (Ex. Y) and then DEQ responded to CR/REF on February 6 and 8, 

2015 (Ex. 18 and 19) and issued the AO on March 27, 2015.  Tr. Vol I, 214:16-19; 

215:6-11.  However, it has already been determined that none of these 

correspondences from DEQ constituted “notice letters” because none of them 

contained all the requisite parts pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1)(a)-(e).  

Or. S.J., at 8:10-12.  Because none of DEQ’s correspondence constituted a notice 

letter, it follows as a matter of law that none of CR/REF’s responses can constitute 
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the “response [to] … the notice letter” contemplated by ARM 17.30.2003(5).  

CR/REF’s arguments regarding ARM 17.30.2003(5) are therefore unavailing.  The 

only applicable section of ARM 17.30.2003 is subsection (7), which allows DEQ 

to proceed directly to an AO on violations, like the three remaining here, which 

meet the threshold level of seriousness.4  

                                           
4  This conclusion does not ease all of the discomfort regarding DEQ’s correspondence 

and ARM 17.30.2003.  DEQ’s argument is that any correspondence beyond an AO on 

cases that meet the seriousness thresholds are, essentially, a bonus or courtesy unrequired 

by law.  While perhaps technically true, the undersigned is sympathetic to CR/REF’s 

position that DEQ’s correspondence created substantial, justifiable confusion.   

 Although these correspondence failed to meet the technical requirements of a “notice 

letter” (which seems inadvertent on DEQ’s part, given that it originally charged Violation 

1); any recipient could have construed the letters as intended to be “notice letters” within 

the meaning of subsection (2).  There is also no dispute (and DEQ admitted) that CR/REF 

adequately and timely responded to all of this correspondence, as contemplated by 

subsection (5).  CR/REF’s frustration is understandable—it responded to and complied 

with all of DEQ’s demands in the correspondence, only to receive an AO three months 

later.  Had DEQ been more precise in its correspondence (as it should have been), 

subsection (5) would have acted to prevent any penalty absent some additional evidence 

from DEQ.  It does not seem fair that DEQ should, in effect, be rewarded for its own 

failures to write (what it intended to be) a “notice letter.”   

 That said, CR/REF have also benefited (by a dismissal of Violation 1) from the 

conclusion that none of the correspondence constituted a “notice letter.”  CR/REF go 

beyond arguing in the alternative when trying to assert both that none of DEQ’s 

correspondence constituted a “notice letter” (and thus the dismissal of Violation 1 was 

justified) and that CR/REF adequately responded to all the “notice letters” (attempting to 

justify, now, dismissal of the remaining violations).  Either DEQ’s correspondence 

constituted “notice letters” within the meaning of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1)(a)-(e), 

or it did not.   

 As it has already been decided that the correspondence did not so-constitute (and the 

benefit of that conclusion already conferred), the undersigned must be satisfied.  And as 

the ARM has now been repealed, a contrary conclusion would have little or no deterrent 

effect on DEQ’s future correspondence pursuant to that ARM.  
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D. Method for Calculating Penalties 

Each of the Administrative Orders assesses a penalty and has a penalty 

calculation worksheet attached tracking the Administrative Rules on penalties.  

ARMs 17.4.301-308; see also Tr. Vol. I, 215:19 – 216:5; Ex. 9, DEQ 000154 - 

000155; DEQ 000157; Ex. 10, DEQ 000184 – 000185, DEQ 000187.  The method 

used to calculate any penalty for a violation is identical, pursuant to the steps set 

out in ARM 17.4.303. 

Several of those steps, however, are in applicable to this situation.  First, a 

base penalty may be decreased by up to 10% based on the “amounts voluntarily 

expended” (AVE).  ARM 17.4.304(4).  But here there was no evidence of amounts 

CR/REF expended beyond what was required to come into compliance and 

therefore this factor is not relevant here.  See also Tr. Vol. I, 219:7 – 219:12. 

Second, the total penalty may be adjusted if the violator has been issued an 

Order for violations of the Water Quality Act within the past three years or if the 

violator enjoyed an economic benefit through noncompliance.  ARM 17.4.306; 

ARM 17.4.307.  However, DEQ has not alleged any prior history for CR/REF and 

did not assess any economic benefit for violations 2-4, so neither of these penalty 

factors should be considered.  Ex. 9, 157-166; Ex. 10, 187-196. 
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E. Violation Two  

The previous hearing examiner concluded CR/REF were owner/operators 

requiring permit coverage.  In other words, all discharges of storm water that 

occurred before CR/REF had permit coverage (prior to December 23, 2013) were 

necessarily in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  

Discharges of storm water are determined to occur whenever there is a storm 

event that results in of 0.25 inches or greater precipitation (“precipitation events”).  

Tr. Vol. II, 32:15-25, 33:1-12.  Therefore, every day on which there was a 

precipitation event and on which CR/REF did not have a permit, CR/REF 

discharged storm water without a permit in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

605(2)(c).  Tr. Vol III  104:10-16; 108:7-16  DEQ is only allowed, however, to 

“look back” for two years from the date of the AO (March 27, 2015) when 

counting the number of days that storm water was discharged.  Tr. Vol. I, 225:14-

25.   

DEQ originally counted the number of days when there was a precipitation 

event between March 27, 2013 and December 23, 2013, to reach a total number of 

21 days of storm water discharges without a permit.  Tr. Vol. I, 225:14-226:3.  

However, DEQ apparently counted days based on precipitation data posted on the 

NOAA website, which was not as accurate as the certified NOAA data that they 

produced on the third day of the hearing.  Tr. Vol. III, 33:10-36:20.  When faced 
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with this data DEQ adjusted downward the number of days to a total of 19 days, 

instead of 21.  Tr. Vol. III, 33:21-35:2. 

However, CR/REF continues to dispute knowing they were (or could be 

determined to be by this proceeding) owner/operators required to have permit 

coverage.  From the debate on this issue during summary judgment, it is clear that 

CR/REF at least had a non-frivolous, good faith legal basis to believe that they 

were not owner/operators requiring permit coverage.  Based on the circumstances 

here, it is not fair n this instance to charge CR/REF with violations for discharges 

without a permit before DEQ told them affirmatively that they needed to have 

permit coverage.  DEQ told CR/REF on September 23, 2013, that they needed 

permit coverage;5 but, it then took until December 23, 2013, for CR/REF to 

comply.  CR/REF can therefore only reasonably be penalized for the discharges of 

storm water (precipitation events) that occurred between September 23, 2013 and 

December 23, 2013.  According to the certified NOAA data, there were eight 

precipitation events between those dates.  Ex. 20.  This calculation eliminates 11 

days with precipitation events which occurred before DEQ’s September 23, 2013 

letter.  

                                           
5  As discussed supra, while this correspondence may not have been a “notice letter” 

within the meaning of the applicable laws and rules, it certainly informed CR/REF that 

DEQ believed permit coverage was required.  
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The nature of Violation 3 must be classified “as one that harms or has the 

potential to harm human health or the environment….”  ARM 17.4.303(1), (5); 

ARM 17.4.302(6); Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  Violation 2 must be found 

to have a “major gravity” because it harmed or has the “potential for harm to 

human health or the environment…” and because “construction or operation 

without a required permit or approval” is a given example of a major gravity 

pursuant to ARM 17.4.303(5)(a).  

There was no evidence presented at the hearing on the “volume, 

concentration, and toxicity of the regulated substance, the severity and percent of 

exceedance of a regulatory limit,” which are the other factors to consider when 

determining the extent of a violation for the purpose of calculating a penalty.  

ARM 75.4.303(4).  Therefore, the only remaining consideration for the extent of 

the violation is the “duration of the violation.” Id.  DEQ alleged that 19 days 

constituted a “major deviation from the applicable requirements” necessitating a 

major extent finding.  This argument is strained.  However, eight days of discharge 

between the time DEQ told CR/REF that they needed permit coverage and the time 

they obtained it is closer to a “minor deviation from the applicable requirements.”  

Id.  Adjusting the days of violation therefore also causes a downward adjustment 

of the extent finding to a “minor extent”, which changes the base penalty from 

$8,500 per day, per entity, to $5,500 per day, per entity.  
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DEQ also premises their 30% upward adjustment for “circumstances” on the 

fact that, “As a large and experienced developer, [CR/REF] was aware that storm 

water discharges without a permit are prohibited by law” and therefore they should 

have known to get permit coverage.  Ex. 9; Ex. 10; Tr. Vol. I, 222:18-223:6; Vol. 

III, 96:22-97:3.  As noted above, there is at least a (continuing) debate between the 

parties about whether or not CR/REF was an owner/operator requiring permit 

coverage and those arguments are not frivolous.  CR/REF got permit coverage 

(under protest) once DEQ told them it was needed.  Ex. 3; Ex. 4.  These 

circumstances do not warrant a 30% increase in the base penalty for CR/REF.  

They also, however, do not warrant a 10% decrease in the base penalty for good 

faith and cooperation, because if CR/REF had been proactive as contemplated by 

ARM 75.4.304(3), they could have sought guidance from DEQ sooner on whether 

they needed (or DEQ thought they needed) permit coverage and done more to get 

the permit faster after learning DEQ felt it was needed.  

For all these reasons, a base penalty, with no adjustments, of $5,500 per day 

is an appropriate penalty.  The per day penalty multiplied by eight days of violation 

(for eight precipitation events between September 23, 2013 and December 23, 

2013), comes to a total penalty of $44,000 per entity, or a total of $88,000 for both 

CR and REF for Violation 2.    
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F. Violation Three 

The prior hearing examiner concluded “[t]here is sufficient evidence that 

Reflections and Copper Ridge placed or caused to be placed wastes” within the 

meaning of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-605(1)(a) and 75-5-103(24) (defining “other 

wastes”).  Or. S.J., at 17:4-5.  This was based on the evidence presented by DEQ’s 

inspector, Dan Freeland, regarding his observations at an unscheduled inspection 

of CR/REF on September 9, 2013.  Id. at 17:5-10.  However, at summary judgment 

DEQ failed to show that the waste CR/REF placed would cause “pollution” as 

defined by Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(30), thus, leaving the issue for resolution 

at the hearing.  

At the hearing, DEQ convincingly argued that because of the definition of 

pollution, any unpermitted discharge to state waters of storm water that includes 

“other wastes” (as defined by Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(24)) constitutes 

pollution.  Tr. Vol I 29:16-30:22, Vol. III, 110:1-113:09.  Specifically, “‘Pollution’ 

means: (i) contamination or other alteration of the physical, chemical, or biological 

properties of state waters that exceeds that permitted by Montana water quality 

standards.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(30).  When an entity has no permit to 

discharge storm water, all storm water discharges to a state water that contain 

waste are necessarily “exceeding that permitted.”  DEQ contends that permits 

themselves, and the BMPs they require, are what regulate the amount of waste that 
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is discharged in storm water.  Tr. Vol. I, 29:16-30:22; Vol. III, 110:1-113:9.  The 

assumption is that, if the BMPs are in place and working as they should, then the 

amount of waste (if any) that ends up in state waters through storm water 

discharges is permitted (i.e., is of an amount that DEQ has determined is not going 

to harm human health or the environment or alter any applicable water quality 

standards).  For this reason, numeric standards for the amount of waste are 

essentially irrelevant—either an entity is controlling waste through its permit and 

BMPs, or it is not.  However, not all unpermitted storm water discharges are 

necessarily a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(a), because there must 

be the additional fact proven of an entity “plac[ing] or caus[ing] to be placed any 

wastes where they will” combine with storm water to cause unpermitted discharges 

and therefore “pollution.”6  Mont. Code Ann.  

§ 75-5-103(30).  

As stated above and in the Order on Summary Judgment, it has been 

established that CR/REF placed waste where it could cause pollution and that there 

were eight days of precipitation that could have caused storm water discharges 

between the time CR/REF had notice of the need for permit coverage and when it 

                                           
6  If this were not the case, having an unpermitted storm water discharge would 

simultaneously violate two sections of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605 and would result in 

superfluous or redundant charge stacking, and would offer a work-around any statutory 

caps on maximum damages.  See Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(9)(d). 
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was obtained.  Or. SJ at 17:4-5; Ex. 20.  DEQ also offered additional evidence at 

the hearing (namely the observations and documentation of Inspector Freedland 

from September 9, 2013) that discharges of storm water from CR/REF containing 

waste flowed from CR/REF into Cove Ditch, a tributary to the Yellowstone River, 

and a state water.  Ex. 16; Tr. Vol. I, 143:16-21; Vol. III, 97:16-20.  CR/REF did 

not meet their burden to show that “no violation occurred,” i.e., that no waste was 

placed by CR/REF and no (or fewer) discharges of storm water occurred than 

alleged by DEQ.  DEQ’s assumption therefore stands.  After CR/REF was found to 

be placing waste (on September 9, 2013) and before they had permit coverage7 (on 

December 23, 2013), all of the storm water discharges were unpermitted and 

therefore placed waste into state waters in an amount “that exceeds that 

permitted[,]” Per Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-103(30).  Or. SJ at 17:4-5; Ex. 20; Ex. 

16; Tr. Vol. I 29:16-30:22 

As previously determined, there were eight days where precipitation 

occurred that might cause storm water discharges between September 23, 2013, 

                                           
7  As discussed further below, it is unclear from the record (with the exception of one 

day on which DEQ actually inspected) whether BMPs were in place after CR/REF had 

permit coverage.  As this essentially constructive definition of “pollution” depends only 

on unpermitted discharges (rather than discharges made in violation of a permit) any time 

period after CR/REF were permitted would require additional, affirmative evidence of the 

amounts of waste that exceeded those contemplated by the permits.   
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and December 23, 2013.  Therefore, CR/REF is found to have placed waste where 

it would cause pollution via unpermitted storm water discharges for eight days.  

Similar to the previous violation, the nature of Violation 3 is classified “as 

one that harms or has the potential to harm human health or the environment….”  

ARM 17.4.303(1), (5); ARM 17.4.302(6); Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  

Violation 3 must also be found to have a “major gravity” because the “release of a 

regulated substance that causes harm or poses a serious potential to harm human 

health or the environment” and “exceedance of a maximum containment level or 

water quality standard” are given examples of a major gravity pursuant to ARM 

17.4.303(5)(a).  

As in the prior violation, the only evidence presented at the hearing 

regarding the extent of Violation 3 concerned the “duration of the violation.”  

ARM 75.4.303(4).  DEQ alleged that 730 days of violation (representing every day 

in the maximum two-year statute of limitation) constituted a “major deviation from 

the applicable requirements” necessitating a major extent finding.  However, an 

adjustment to eight days of violation constitutes a “minor deviation from the 

applicable requirements.”  Id.  This adjustment of the days of violation also adjusts 

downward the extent finding to a “minor extent”.  Per the matrix, this makes the 

base penalty 0.55, or $5,500 per entity, per violation.  As with the prior violation, 

no adjustments to the base or total penalty are appropriate for these circumstances, 
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good faith, AVE, or economic benefit.  ARMs 75.4.304, 306, 307.  The total 

penalty is therefore $44,000 per entity, or a total of $88,000 for both CR and REF 

for Violation 3.  

G. Violation Four  

The prior hearing examiner concluded based on observations by DEQ during 

the October 21, 2014 inspection (and the documentation memorializing it) that 

CR/REF violated the terms and conditions of their general permit in four ways: (1) 

the SWPPP administrator failed to conduct site inspection every seven days 

(Permit Section 2.3); (2) the SWPPP had not been or updated appropriately (Permit 

Sections 3.1.1 and 3.1.3); (3) the SWPPP administrator had failed to maintain 

records at the site (Permit Section 2.5); and (4) BMPs were not implemented to 

control and mitigate discharges of sediment and other pollutants (Permit Sections 

2.1.1 and 2.1.4).  Or. S.J., 19-20.  These findings were consistent with evidence 

presented at the hearing.  JSF ¶ 12; Tr. Vol. I, 100:11-100:20; Ex. 7 at DEQ 

000113; Tr. Vol. I. 105:24-106:3; Ex. 8 at DEQ 000125.  

CR/REF correctly characterized all but the fourth violation of the permit as 

paperwork violations.  Tr. Vol. III 43:6-53:12.  While these violations are certainly 

important (particularly, for example, regular inspections),8 they probably do not 

                                           
8  Hopefully it is not lost on CR/REF that (as discussed further below) had they done 

and documented regular inspections as required by the permit, and had those inspections 
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meet the threshold of seriousness contemplated by ARM 17.30.2003(7) (repealed 

2016).  As discussed above and in the Order on Summary Judgment, Violation 4 

has only survived to this stage is because it (at least at the time) met the threshold 

level of seriousness to overcome DEQ’s failure to provide a “notice letter.”  See 

supra, Secton C.  It is therefore appropriate to focus on the fourth violation 

involving BMPs for the purpose of assessing a penalty, as this was the only 

violation that had the potential to harm human health and the environment.  See 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(b); ARM 17.30.2003(7) (repealed 2016).  

DEQ presented adequate evidence at the hearing to establish that when DEQ 

performed its scheduled inspection on October 21, 2014, CR/REF did not have 

BMPs in place and thus was not in compliance with the permit.  Tr. Vol. I, 100:11-

102:21 The specific BMPs were those intended to control storm water discharges: 

“Filtrexx Sediment Control, earthen berms, stabilized construction entrance, and 

preserving existing vegetation.”  Ex. 7 at DEQ000119; Tr. Vol. I, 125:5-13.   

Based on that October inspection DEQ charged CR/REF with a violation for 

every day between the time CR/REF received permit coverage (December 23, 

2013) and the date of the inspection (October 21, 2014), which resulted in 303 

                                           
showed that BMPs were appropriately in place, supplying those inspection records at the 

hearing (or at summary judgment) would have easily met their burden to show that “a 

violation has not occurred.”  Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(6)(e). 
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days of violation.  Ex. 9; Ex. 10; Tr. Vol. I, 229:12-23.  Even when pointedly asked 

by the undersigned, however, DEQ could point to no evidence in the record that 

BMPs were not in place for the ten months between December 2013 and October 

2014.  Tr. Vol III 112:6-23.  DEQ argued instead that because BMPs were not in 

place in October, it was appropriate to assume that they were never put in place. 

This assumption, however, was contradicted by DEQ’s own inspector, Dan 

Freeland, who stated in an email to other DEQ employees on March 7, 2014, that 

while driving through CR/REF there were at least some of BMPs (straw bales and 

a berm) in place and that there “[a]ppear[ed] to be an effort to control runoff from 

the individual lots I observed.”  Ex. V. 

For its part, CR/REF also provided no evidence that all of the BMPs 

required by the permit (including the four discussed by DEQ) were in place for 

those ten months.  CR/REF had Marshall Phil, their SWPPP administrator on the 

stand at the hearing, and there was some testimony that there were more SWPP 

inspections than were documented.  Tr. Vol. III, 50:15-51:14.  However, CR/REF 

never provided for that period any inspection reports, photographs, testimony, or 

any other evidence that affirmatively demonstrated that the BMPs DEQ alleged 

were not in place were in fact in use.  Marshall Phil, the SWPPP administrator for 

CR/REF, during his testimony could only state that a “good majority” of BMPs 

were onsite and installed correctly, without providing any further detail.  Tr. Vol. 
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III 53:13-15.  CR/REF alluded to (and DEQ even admitted that) perhaps a storm 

event could have wiped out BMPs just prior to the October inspection (Tr. Vol. III, 

111:25-112:5); and provided vague evidence that sometimes children removed 

stakes from the Filtrexx controls to have sword fights.  Tr. Vol III., 52:18-53:6  

This evidence is insufficient to meet CR/REF’s burden to show that “a violation 

has not occurred” (Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(6)(e)) or that DEQ’s penalty 

assessment of 303 days “violated the law” (MEIC at ¶16).  

CR/REF did provide evidence, however (consistent with their position that 

they are not owner/operators) that they did not own (at least some of) the lots on 

which DEQ noted a lack of BMPs.  Ex. Y.  In their January 8, 2015 letter9 CR/REF 

stated that its SWPPP administrator, Marshall Phil for Blue Line Engineering, 

“makes certain statements” in the attached corrective actions to the effect of,  

concerning BMPs to be repaired or installed on subdivision lots not 

owned by [CR/REF].  We will communicate your observations to these 

other property owners.  Again, we do not own these lots and have no 

right to enter these properties. 

 

Ex. Y at 1.  The attached corrective actions from Mr. Phil then confusingly state 

both that BMPs are being put in place currently—e.g., “[t]he site is currently in and 

the process of implementing the Filtrexx Sediment Control BMP…” (Ex. Y at 5)—

                                           
9 CR/REF’s January 8, 2015 letter responded to DEQ’s December 9, 2014 letter notifying 

them of violations, which were based (in part) on DEQ’s October 2014 inspection. JSF ¶¶ 

12-15.  

113



PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

PAGE 35 

and that “[i]nstallation of additional BMPs and modification of existing BMPs … 

have yet to be performed.  Weather has not permitted any installation or 

modification to BMPs.  All BMP installation and modification will commence in 

the spring” (id., at 2).   

From the above quoted letter and the testimony at the hearing, it is entirely 

unclear to the undersigned whether or not BMPs were in place as of January 2015, 

were going to be put in place in the spring of 2015, or ever could be put in place 

based on CR/REF’s ownership access.   

DEQ, however, apparently believed that CR/REF’s January 2015 

communication was satisfactory regarding BMPs (and everything else) because it 

stipulated prior to hearing that “[w]ithin a timeframe acceptable to the Department, 

the Copper Ridge Subdivisions each took the corrective action identified in the 

December 9, 2014 Notices of Violation....”  JSF ¶15. In seeming conflict with this 

stipulation, however, DEQ responded to CR/REF’s letter in February 201510 by 

stating  

[i]n your response, you state the installation and modification of 

[BMPs] has not been completed and will not be completed until spring 

2015.  This delay is unacceptable, [BMPs] must be installed and 

maintained immediately to control the discharge of pollutants per Parts 

2.1, 2.3.5, and 3.7 of the Permit.[11]  

                                           
10  To CR on February 6 and to REF on February 9, 2015. Ex 18; Ex. 19.  
11  This response is only contained in DEQ’s response to CR, not the response to REF.  

Compare Ex. 18 with Ex. 19.  
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Ex. 18 at 1-2.  There was no further communication between the parties until DEQ 

issued the March 27, 2015 AO.  In other words, CR/REF never responded (in 

almost two months) to DEQ’s statement that BMPs must be put in place 

immediately; CR/REF gave no further argument about the weather or ownership 

preventing them from doing so.  DEQ also apparently was not concerned enough 

(based on CR/REF’s January communication or any of their other conduct) to do 

another site inspection after October of 2014 to check whether any BMPs were 

actually in place. 

Yet, curiously, DEQ only charged CR/REF with penalty days of violations 

for the 303 days between December 2013 and October 2014, and not for any time 

after October 21, 2014.  Ex. 9 at 9 (DEQ 000165); Ex. 10 at 9 (DEQ000195).  It 

therefore appears DEQ believed (or was comfortable assuming) that after the 

October 2014 inspection, CR/REF had BMPs in place, despite CR/REF’s 

communication in January of 2015 indicating BMPs were not in place and may 

never be in place in some areas.  Ex. Y.   The undersigned is thus unclear whether 

DEQ either understood or was really concerned about the status of the BMPs at 

CR/REF after the October 21, 2014 inspection.  

For all these reasons, the undersigned has struggled to determine the number 

of penalty days to be assessed for CR/REF’s failure to implement the provisions of 
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the permit.12  Ultimately, the only thing that is clear from the evidence (or lack 

thereof) presented at the hearing is that on at least October 21, 2014, when DEQ 

put “eyes on” CR/REF, four BMPs required by the permit (which CR/REF had 

agreed to abide by) were not in place.  The only penalty day that should clearly be 

assessed for a violation of the permit is therefore October 21, 2014.  

Similar to the previous violations, there was no evidence presented at the 

hearing on the “volume, concentration, and toxicity of the regulated substance, the 

severity and percent of exceedance of a regulatory limit,” which are the other 

factors to consider when determining the extent of a violation for the purpose of 

calculating a penalty.  ARM 75.4.303(4).  Therefore, the only remaining 

consideration for the extent of the violation is the duration.  Id.  DEQ alleged that 

ten months (between December 2013 and October 2014) constituted a “major 

deviation from the applicable requirements” necessitating a major extent finding.  

However, an adjustment to only one day of violating the permit constitutes a 

“minor deviation from the applicable requirements.”  Id.  This adjustment of the 

days of violation, therefore also adjusts downward the extent finding to a “minor 

extent”.  A “failure to construct or operate in accordance with a permit or 

                                           
12  Whatever the penalty calculation, a final resolution of the owner/operator question by 

the Board seems the thing most likely to confer a meaningful penalty (or lack thereof) 

and future deterrent for both DEQ and CR/REF for these myriad failures. 
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approval” is by definition a “moderate gravity” finding.  ARM 17.4.303(5)(b).13  

Per the matrix, this makes the base penalty 0.40, or $4,000 per entity, per violation.  

As with the prior violations, no adjustments to the base or total penalty are 

appropriate for circumstances, good faith, AVE, or economic benefit.  ARMs 

75.4.304, 306, 307.  This makes the final penalty $4,000 per entity or $8,000 total 

for both CR/REF.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. BER has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to its authority under 

Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(4)-(9), and the Montana Administrative Procedure 

Act, provided for in Title 2, chapter 4, part 6 (MAPA).   

2. DEQ is authorized under Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-211 to administer 

the provisions of the Montana Water Quality Act, Title 75, Chapter 5, Mont. Code 

Ann. (“WQA”).  The permit program administered by DEQ is implemented 

through rules adopted by the BER.  Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-401 and 75-5-402.  

3. DEQ’s AO, issued March 27, 2015, meets the requirements of Mont. 

Code Ann. § 75-5-611(1)-(2).  

4. Pursuant to the reasoning stated in the Order on Summary Judgment 

at Section II (Aug. 1, 2017), CR/REF were “owners or operators” for the purpose 

                                           
13  DEQ’s citation on their penalty calculation forms (Exs. 9 and 10) incorrectly cites 

ARM 17.4.304(5)(b)(ii) instead of ARM 17.4.303(5)(b)(ii).  
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of obtaining permit coverage for the discharge of storm water at their respective 

developments.  

5. DEQ provided legally sufficient notice of violations under the 

Montana Water Quality Act, Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611(2)(a)(ii), and 75-5-

617, and under ARM 17.30.2003 (repealed 2016). 

6. At the hearing, CR and REF had the burden of proving, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that “a violation has not occurred” and the BER 

must “declare the department's notice void” (Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(6)(e)) or 

that “the facts essential to a determination that the Department's decision violated 

the law” (MEIC at ¶16). 

Findings Relating to All Penalties 

7. The total penalty may be adjusted if the violator has been issued an 

Order for violations of the Water Quality Act within the past three years, however 

DEQ has not alleged any prior history for CR/REF so this factor is not relevant.  

ARM 17.4.306; see also Tr. Vol. I, 218:4 – 218:11; Ex. 9, DEQ 000166; Ex. 10, 

DEQ 000196.  

8. The total penalty may be increased if the violator enjoyed an 

economic benefit through noncompliance, however DEQ has not assessed any 

economic benefit for violations 2-4, and therefore this factor is not relevant.  ARM 

17.4.307; see also Tr. Vol. I, 218:12 – 218:20; Ex. 9; Ex. 10.   
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9. DEQ treated CR and REF as separate violators under Mont. Code 

Ann. § 75-5-611 and initiated two separate enforcement actions in the above-

captioned matters after considering evidence that each company is a separate legal 

entity, and each conducted separate development activities.  Additionally, CR and 

REF obtained separate permit authorizations and submitted separate SWPPPs 

covering development activities at their respective subdivisions.  Based on the 

evidence presented at the hearing and summary judgment, CR and REF are 

separate legal entities and therefore subject to separate penalties.  [cites] 

10. Based on Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-611(9)(a) the penalty for each 

violator is limited to “not more than $10,000 for each day of each violation” and 

“the maximum penalty may not exceed $100,000 for any related series of 

violations.”  As separate cases and entities (though considered together at the 

hearing and herein) therefore, CR/REF together may not be subject to more than 

$20,000 per day or $200,000 total in penalties.  Id.  

Violation One  

11. Pursuant to the reasoning stated in the Order on Summary Judgment, 

Section I(D), DEQ did not provide adequate notice regarding its first alleged 

violation against CR/REF—a violation of ARM 17.30.1105—and therefore no 

violation of that ARM can be shown and DEQ cannot seek administrative penalties 

based on such a violation.  
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Violation Two  

12. Pursuant to the reasoning stated in the Order on Summary Judgment, 

Section III, DEQ has established that CR/REF discharged storm water to state 

waters without a permit in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(2)(c).  

13. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, and as set forth above, 

the requisite penalty calculation (set forth below), and pursuant to Mont. Code 

Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 75-5-1001, and ARMs 17.4.301-308, the appropriate 

assessment of penalties for Violation 2 is $44,000 per entity, or $88,000 total for 

CR/REF.  

14. The nature of this violation is classified as harming or having “the 

potential to harm human health or the environment….”  ARMs 17.4.302(6), 

17.4.303(1).  

15. The gravity of the violation is major because it harmed or has the 

“potential for harm to human health or the environment…” and because 

“construction or operation without a required permit or approval” is a specific 

example of a major gravity pursuant to ARM 17.4.303(5)(a).  

16. The extent of the violation in this case is determined by the only 

factor on which there was any evidence presented, namely “the duration of the 

violation.”  ARM 17.4.303(4).  As the duration of the violation is eight days, “it 

constitutes a minor deviation from the applicable requirements.”  Id., at (4)(c).  
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17. Pursuant to the matrix in ARM 17.4.303(2), therefore, the base 

penalty, per entity, is 0.55 or $5,500, per violation.  

18. The base penalty should not be adjusted based on the circumstances of 

the violation, good faith and cooperation, or the AVE.  ARM 17.4.304(1)-(4).  

19. The number of days of the violation is eight because that is the 

number of days between when CR/REF had notice that DEQ required permit 

coverage (September 23, 2013) and before they got permit coverage (December 

23, 2013), and on which there was a precipitation event of 0.25 inches or greater as 

shown by the NOAA data.  This number of days is also reasonable because the 

multiplication of days for the continuing violation “results in a penalty that is 

higher than … necessary to provide an adequate deterrent” and the Board “may 

reduce the number of days of violation.”  ARM 17.4.305(2).  It is also reasonably 

adjusted “as justice may require.”  ARM 17.4.308.   

Violation Three 

20. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, and as set forth above, 

CR/REF placed wastes where they will cause pollution of any state waters in 

violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-605(1)(a).  

21. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, and as set forth above, 

the appropriate assessment of penalties, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 75-5-611, 
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75-5-1001, and ARMs 17.4.301-308, is $44,000 per entity, or $88,000 total for 

CR/REF.  

22. The nature of this violation is classified as harming or having “the 

potential to harm human health or the environment….”  ARMs 17.4.302(6), 

17.4.303(1).  

23. The gravity of this violation is major because the “release of a 

regulated substance that causes harm or poses a serious potential to harm human 

health or the environment” and “exceedance of a maximum containment level or 

water quality standard” are specified examples of a major gravity pursuant to ARM 

17.4.303(5)(a).   

24. The extent of the violation in this case is determined by the only 

factor on which there was any evidence presented, namely “the duration of the 

violation.”  ARM 17.4.303(4).  As the duration of the violation is eight days, “it 

constitutes a minor deviation from the applicable requirements.”  Id. at (4)(c).  

25. Pursuant to the matrix in ARM 17.4.303(2), therefore, the base 

penalty, per entity, is 0.55 or $5,500, per violation.  

26. The base penalty should not be adjusted based on the circumstances of 

the violation, good faith and cooperation, or the AVE.  ARM 17.4.304(1)-(4).  

27. The number of days of the violation is eight because that is the 

number of days between when CR/REF had notice that DEQ required permit 
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coverage (September 23, 2013) and before they got permit coverage (December 

23, 2013), and on which there was a precipitation event of 0.25 inches or greater as 

shown by the NOAA data.  This number of days is also reasonable because the 

multiplication of days for the continuing violation “results in a penalty that is 

higher than … necessary to provide an adequate deterrent” and the Board “may 

reduce the number of days of violation.”  ARM 17.4.305(2).  It is also reasonably 

adjusted “as justice may require.”  ARM 17.4.308. 

Violation Four  

28. Pursuant to the reasoning stated in the Order on Summary 

Judgment, Section V, DEQ has established that CR/REF violated provisions 

contained within its general permit in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 75-5-

605(1)(b).  

29. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, and as set forth 

above, the appropriate assessment of penalties, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. 

§§ 75-5-611, 75-5-1001, and ARMs 17.4.301-308, is $4,000 per entity, or 

$8,000 total for CR and REF. 

30. The nature of this violation is classified as harming or having “the 

potential to harm human health or the environment….”  ARMs 17.4.302(6), 

17.4.303(1).  
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31. The extent of the violation in this case is determined by the only 

factor on which there was any evidence presented, namely “the duration of the 

violation….”  ARM 17.4.303(4).  As the duration of the violation is one day, “it 

constitutes a minor deviation from the applicable requirements.”  ARM 

17.4.303(4)(c).  

32. The gravity of the violation is moderate because it includes a “failure 

to construct or operate in accordance with a permit or approval.”  ARM 

17.4.303(5)(b).  

33. Pursuant to the matrix in ARM 17.4.303(2), therefore, the base 

penalty, per entity, is 0.4 or $4,000, per entity, per violation.  

34. The base penalty should not be adjusted based on the circumstances of 

the violation, good faith and cooperation, or the AVE.  ARM 17.4.304(1)-(4).  

35. The number of days of the violation is one because that is the 

number of days on which there is any evidence that four BMPs were not in 

place in violation of the requirements of the permit.  This number of days is 

also reasonable because the multiplication of days for the continuing 

violation “results in a penalty that is higher than … necessary to provide an 

adequate deterrent” and the Board “may reduce the number of days of 

violation.”  ARM 17.4.305(2).  It is also reasonably adjusted “as justice may 

require.” ARM 17.4.308. 
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Total Penalties 

36. The combined total of penalties for Violations 2, 3, and 4 is 

$92,000 per entity, or $184,000 total for CR and REF.  

 DATED this 16th day of July, 2018. 

 

/s/Sarah Clerget     

Sarah Clerget 

Hearing Examiner 

Agency Legal Services Bureau 

1712 Ninth Avenue 

P.O. Box 201440 

Helena, MT 59620-1440 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I caused a true and accurate copy of the foregoing Order 

on Post-Hearing Submissions to be mailed to: 

Lindsay Ford 

Secretary, Board of Environmental Review 

Department of Environmental Quality 

1520 East Sixth Avenue 

P.O. Box 200901 

Helena, MT 59620-0901 

Lindsay.Ford@mt.gov 

 

Ms. Kirsten Bowers 

Legal Counsel 

Department of Environmental Quality 

P.O. Box 200901 

Helena, MT 59620-0901 

kbowers@mt.gov 

 

Mr. William W. Mercer 

Victoria A. Marquis 

Holland & Hart LLP 

401 N. 31st Street, Suite 1500 

P.O. Box 639 

Billings, MT 59103-0639 

wwmercer@hollandhart.com 

vamarquis@hollandhart.com 

 

DATED: 7/16/18    /s/ Aleisha Solem   

       Paralegal 
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